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D edication

Dedicating this story becomes one of my most difficult problems, not for lack of those to whom
| would like to dedicate it, but because there are too many. In his first letter to the Corinthians,
{Gd t I dA alreazr W[ 20S ySOSNI SyRadé

All ofthe good in this story | shall dedicate to lay& all those whom | have known and loved
¢ to all who are possessed of love.

If you are one of these, this is dedicated to you.
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A cknowledgements

When | attempt to offer my thanks to those who have been of help to me, | am confronted with
the fact that | shall never be able to name all those who have inspired me, those who have
been of material help, and thesvho have contributed in so many ways. My heart and mind
turns, first, to the Heavenly Father, but as | think sfroortal creatures | feel indebd to the

Bells of Raleigh, who were so kind to me and tolerated my irregular habits during a part of this
writing of this story.

To the guests of the Fairview Motel, Fana Dam N.C., to whom | am indebted for not having
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Dr. Ben Gatliff of Plant City, Florida, my home town, phone me a number of times while |
resided at the Fairview, where | did most of the work on this book, to inquire of my health and
chat at some length with me. When oneaiway from home, wherever he may be or whatever
may be the acumgances, it is heartwarming to have someone call from homaspecially if it

is his physician. Thanks, doctor!

| must give credit to Mr. and Mrs. Simp Crisp and Mr. and Mrs. J.H. Cribgifgpatience

when | am sure that manyugsts decided that after one gint they would never return to this
motel again. | am also delighted to give to those fine people credit for their solicitous attitude
toward an old many during my stay with them.eW | possessed of the capability of telling
them how much | enjoyed their company and kindness. | am sure they would forgive me.



| take pleasure in thanking fowearold Terry Jenkins for his interest in my behalf. When his

father dug potatoes, amontie finest in the country, he dug one almost a foot long! Terry
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| ate French friesff of that potato three times. Thanks, Terry, for your assistance in
subsistence!

Hardly could | forget the little Jenkins girls. Blondes they were. They gathered flowers for me
and held hands with me from to time. This is always encouraging tordubgeung man.

Johnny and Gale Jenkins were often a help, but not always consistent.

| appreciate the attention given me by Mr. and Mrs. Troy Jenkins, who had me up for a meal a
number of times. It was good to see the whole family togetherertinded me of the large
family of which | was a member.

Donny and Ted Jenkins were my aidiescamp. First, Donnie: he came with Ted usually, but

came alone at times. He is a stout little man with penetrating eyes and an inscrutable

personality, but varm and affectionate. | deliberately took a hank of his hair from time to time,
2dzald (2 KSIFENJIKAY aleéesxs Gaidz2L) Lz t Ay3 Yeé | 9wde
cup of tea or other little favor. He was also there when | offered him a mecake or cream.

He took them with modesty. When | return to the mountains, | am sure | will have some

accounts to settle with Donnyonce in a while. He prefers Don.

Ted Jenkins . . . it is difficult for me say what | would like to ab out Ted oWltkingabashed,

it is difficult for me think about him at this moment. Since | left the mountains, my emotions
have reached out for Ted. For so long he was my shadow. He helped me gather the beautiful
leaves which | have stored away. He accompamiedo town many times.

He went to the Fontana Village Church with me. He wandered through the woods with me. He
was with me on a beautiful Sunday afternoon when we explored a narrow valley and almost
found more than we wanted. The bears had beatenauart apple tree on an abandoned
homestead. Ted always ahead, called me to come. The bears had stomped the ground around
the tree, bitten apples and broken a limb from the tree. Their signs were fresh, and as we
looked, one of those odd coincidences oged. A heavy limb fell from a tree nearby and

made a noisy crash. It startled me and Ted got a good laugh. He is sure that | thought it was a
0SIFNJ GodzNE (2 ¢SRO®

Ted rubbed my feet with deepeating rub because | had so much trouble with them. It was
Ted who cleaned my room when | felt so badly, and as he left walked over and gave me an



affectionate hug and told me to get some sleep instead of typing. | promised to obey him as he
FYR KA& ONRUOKSNI RSLI NI SR T2NJ ibKig Clrigtraas f S NJb £ 2
holidays, J.H. Crisp helped me pack and load my car. Ted helped, too. He thanked me for his
LINSASYyd yR KS AdGFNISR FT2NJ 6KS R22 N aLa GaKI
looked at J.H. and came over and gave me anrao# | will never forget his affection and his
kindnesses. He is a great kid!

| always enjoyed brief stops at the Riley Crisps. | would have short chats with them. Mrs. Crisp,
in spite of her snaggle tooth and wrinkles, seemed beautiful to me. Ctasirand warmth
radiatedfrom her smiles. He was a kindly and friendly gentlemen.

| always went to see the Virgil Jenkins when convenient, especially if | was hungry, because she
always insisted me eating something dnever felt more welcome than witthem. As my car
rounded the curve on the way to their house once, | told the young man driving that if Mrs.
Jenkins said anything about cooking a young chicken for supper and asked us to stay, for him to
keep still: | would do the talking!

We talked wihthem at®2 dziT G KA NI & YAydziSad IyR aNaA® WSylAya
have a young chickerut up and | have to fry him. If yains would like to stay for supper we

would like to haveyoulzy & 6L RARY QiU RI NB f 2 2justlong endughS @& 2 dzy 3
to appear modest and then told her that if it was not too much trouble we would be glad to

stay. We are the chicken and then I told her the story. It took me about three times to make

her believe it. They were each very kind and gensrou

¢KS #ANBAf /FNNAY3ISNAR o064/ | yaISNE dzLJ 6 KSNBO & SN.
meal as a guest, with them. Food was piled high on the table and | did it justice, but | am sure

that they as well as | got most out of our visit anfl th ® aNBE® a/ | yaSNE gl a Y
intelligent; it was a pleasure to talk with her. When | left he went to the end of the porch with
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and | know | shall see them again.

These are the people to whom | must give much credit: their kindness, friendliness and
Christian love.

| must not forget King her wit, charm and beauty. Thanks, Lowell for washing my car free. |
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| am deeply indebted to my adviser, the veteran newspaperman of sixteen gesesvice,
Gary Braddock, for his invaluable service to me in the ppar of this story.

| have not named all those to whom | am indebted for their help. Writing a story such as this is
not easy under the best of circumstances. This project was made much easier by the kindly
people with whom | was associated from dayday. All of them! | spent eight months in North



Carolina, many of these days with my friends the Bells of Raleigh. | do not exaggerate when |
say these were the most satisfying amaeft eight months | ever enjed. Thanks!

MY FAMILY

Joseph Edward Hendricks,
father, deceased

Mary Ellinor Andrews
mother, deceased
Amanda Hendricks Carroll,
sister, deceased

Thomas Andrews
Hendricks brother,
deceased

Stephen Butler Hendricks
brother

Barney J Hendricks
brother, deceased

Mable HendricksParrish,
sister

Joseph Edward Hendricks
A D Carroll, brother
Agness Carroll Hutchinson
sister

Inda Carroll Ryalssister
Lola Carroll Crewssister
William Carrol| brother
Daisy Carroll Mundy,
sister, deceased




| ntroduction

A number of myfriends and relativeg mostly relatives; have suggested that | write my
autobiography. While | have thought that doing so would be interesting, there must be some
subconscious compunction on my part. For it seems that | have, without purposely dping so
put much in the way of the beginning.

| have wondered and thought: How does one begin an autobiography? It could hardly be
modesty on my part. For on occasion, when | have had good reason to have inhibitions
completely free, | have not hesitated telt a friend, or even a stranger, upon the slightest
prodding what a great man | am. On two occasions, | have done this at the cost of an extreme
amazement and embarrassment later.

Actually, if properly told in honesty and sincerity, there should bearmopunction at all on my

prat. The story is not a simple one. Itis complicated. And it could be considered almost
unbelievable, were it not for the fact that similar stories have been repeated many times in this
great country, thanks to the grace of God

On occasion when | have thought about it and wondered, | have asked myself: How did you do
it, old man? Then the answer becomes crystal clear. |did not do it. God did it, and | only
helped. | have been thankful so very much for this divine asgistaThis sobering realization

has always made me a bit more humble than | would have been otherwise.

For the benefit of the reader, let me state that | will write of things, people and events |
remember from my childhood until 1966, the time of thistwmgy. There may be those who

can, and no doubt will, challenge some of the things of which | write. That will not concern me,
since | have prefaced it with the statement that | am writing of what | remember. | do not
contend that my memory will be coreein all respects. | will contend that what | write is only
what | remember.My sisters and brothers are the ones who will, in all likelihood, censure and
challenge my entire writing. | shall, in that event, give them the privilege of writing a blograp
of me to suit themselves.

And now | know how one starts to write an autobiography. You start . .. and | have started.



CHAPTER |

Great Loss

The young man, a reporter, either selected me, or was assigned, to write a story about me. He
called me o the phone via long distance, and a fairly long distance at that, to conduct an
interview. Twice | cautioned him of the cost of his call, to no avail. Finally in behalf of his
financial good and the fact that | could do a better job, | advised him ldvyoat answer any of

his questions until he submitted them in writing. He agreed to do this and did.

hyS 2F KA& TFTANKG ljdSadrzya 614y a2Ke RAR &2dz

could think of. 1 lived in Lake Butler because thathere my mother resided when | was born
on September 24, 1903, and | had very little to do with that. Lake Butler was then situated in
Bradford County, just north of Gainesville. It was later made part of Union County.

At my earliest recollection, weviéd on the Outler Boyd place. As I finally recall, we later moved
to the Carver place, which was near the Boyd place. My memory is more vivid of what took
place at the Boyd place. It was here that | first remember my stepfather and the first offspring
between him and my mother. My mother had given birth to six children, four boys and two
girls, by my father, Joseph Edward Hendricks. He died at the premature age of 38 years.
Mother remarried and had six more children by my stepfather, four girls andotoys. This

made the family an even dozen, six boys and six girls.

The life we lived at the Boyd place seemed to me, and still seems to me, to be one of the most
morbid periods of my life. It would be difficult for me to recall one haipgydent in my life on

this place. | recall that | was sick and seemed to care for nothing. In my memory, | never lived a
more lonesome life than at this place. | can recall only one rather amusing incident, the rest of
them being mosil unhappy and alwst tragicoccurrences The incident which amused me is

one in which my older brother found himself in considerable jeopardy through his own making.

As a toddler, | had a habit of waking away from the house, which caused consternation
sometimes. On one particular occasion, | decided to explore a cotton field, and a deep ditch
which ran through the field. At this time our family had a rather large mongrel dog we called
Lion who could be fierce when need be. Lion followed me on myeatmn trip. On
approaching the ditch, we found we faced a problem in crossing it. The ditch took on the
dimensions of a river to me. Suddenly from the ditch an apparition with white sheets
appeared. Neither Lion or | liked the appearance of this ualsreature.

| had learned, from other members of my family, how they could set Lion upon some intruding
FYAYLFf ® {2 L G2fR [A2Yy>Y a{AO WSY¢sx YR (KS
My brother had to disrobe and call to Lion atthers& G A YS @ L¥ KS KIFRyQi
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to Lion, the dog probably would have launched a death struggle with my brother. Until this
day, | cannot get my brother to see the humor in this incident.

In later years, Lion grew feeble. He disappeared froengilace for a while, and returned one
night, looking gaunt and weak. The whole family tried to have a part in feeding him. He was
eating all right until a cat interfered. Lion jumped at the cat and fell. He lay still in death as we
wept.

| feel a ratker strong childish resentment toward my mother for two incidents. One involved

my sister Mable. When she and | were playing baseball one day, the stick Mable was using as a
oFd I OOARSy(dte aidNHz201 YS Ay (KS TtyidghechugeR L 0 f
Mother whipped sister so fiercely that | was both frightened and angered. To this day, I still

harbor some resentment for that incident.

I 32+ 4G gAftf y2G6 G2t SNIFGS NIAY AF Al OFryQl TAY
heavy and they have no protection, a young kid will drown. As a youngster, | had a pet kid, and

| loved it as | loved nothing else. One day when a thunderstorm came up, we all rushed to the
house. As the rain was pouring down, | could see my pet from @owinrunning up and down

the yard fence, looking for the gate. | begged Mother to let me go out and bring the kid in with

YSo {KS NXFdzAaSR® [ FGSNE L 06S3I3ISR KSNI FIlLAYS
seemed to me that the heavens wereaghing. My kid would bleat now and then and try

harder to find the fence gate. It rained hard and long, and my pet went away. A day or so later,

| founditsbodyL. R2 y20 dzyRSNRGFYR @S gKeé L 0O2dzZ RyQi
house and otiof the rain. | am aware that my mother did not plan this as a tragedy for me.

There were some sensational events, and a few which were a mixture of the humorous,
embarrassing, and comical at the Boyd place. | still feel that it was an odd medical
phenomenon that my older brother, Tom, had very serious convulsions. They were so serious
that it was necessary to put a spoon in his mouth, to prevent him from chewing on his tongue. |
will long remember my fright when he rushed out of the dining room dyuone of his attacks,

and ran into the cook stove on his way out. | vividly remember how his eyes bulged. | do not
recall how many convulsions he had, and over how long a period of time. But | do know that
these were never diagnosed as epileptiMy brother, Barney, also went through a siege of
convulsions. As far as | know, neither of them had other attacks after they grew up. Tom
passed away at 67 and Barney at 63. If they ever had any more attacks, it was a result of the
G5¢Qadé ¢ K 8rénkaddg, nokalcohslics: Wighout coordinate effort, each ceased

to drink and each became a Christian before he had a foot in the grave. | thank God for that.

| also had convulsions. | was much younger than they. Therefore, | was never too avisgre of t
ill effects. In fact, | remember simply that on one occasion or two, something happened to me
odzi L Ol yQli NBOFftt oKIFGod CKFG Aa adAatt  Yea

| remember only too well the nightmares | had as a small youngster. They were frightening
experien@s. They took on various forms, except for one. That involved some Negroes coming
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to the house, pretending they were there to pick cotton. But | knew this was a ruse, and they
were sneaking closer and closer to me to put me in their sacks to take me dwia not know

how | manifested this to my parents, but | remember that they put me in a tub of warm water
and bathed me. What else they did, | do not recall. | do know that the effect of that nightmare
remained with me vividly for some time, exadtigw long | do not know. | am still partially
affected by them. For several days afterwards, | had that same nightmare, and | remained
constantly frightened at night. Frightened is not the proper word. | was terrified, and would
not go to bed until comelled to. From the moment the lights were turned out, | was terrified,
regardless of how close | was sleeping to anyone. | could see the same nightmare. It seems
that | was sick the entire time we lived at the Boyd place.

It was during the timewe vk | & GKS . 28R LI FOS GKIFG 11ffSeQa
could be clearly seen by the inhabitants of the Earth. It certainly was awe inspiring. | recall very
vividly its appearance. It was simple to describe. From stories appearing in someapergsp

FYR ¢62NR LI &84SR FTNRY Y2dziK G2 Y2dzikz Al o6SOIY
appeared to me to be a large, bright star with a tail as large as the body of the star and as

bright, where they joined. The tail then trailed off and beeadimmer and dimmer to the end.

There were many rumors circulated about the comet, such as it would come closer to, and

finally strike, the Earth, causing a great catastrophe. As | recall, many feared it would destroy

the Earth. There were many suicglall over the world, as many people seemed to panic.

Finally it disappeared. This was in 1910. The Earth had been brushed by the tail of the comet.

The population, in general, being ignorant of that fact. The comet appearing on its regular
schedulejs due to return in 1986.

My oldest sister, Amanda, had reached her teens, and was being courted. Her beau was my
A0SLIFI OKSNDRa ONRIOKSNE ¢K2 gl a 2t RSN GKIYy Yeé a
both my brotherin-law and uncle. At the sthof their courtship, John appearednd Amanda

was elsewkre. He asked me where she wagsd | gave him, in what in those days was a totally

dzy KA6AGSR YR FN}y]l NBLX & G{KS Aa Ay (GKS FA
about 25 yearsater, within a half mile of the Boyd place.

At the Boyd place, we had a horse named Charlie. He was almost as much a part of the family
as was Lion, my canine protector. Charlie was as gentle as a cat although once he kicked me
with his front feet.

| remember once that Tom and Butler, two of my older brothers, and Dad (my stepfather) were
working in the fields with Charlie. Dad saw Charlie damage some cotton plants, and in a
temper, jumped at the horse and proceeded to give him a good cuffing. TdrBuather,

without premeditation, jumped on Dad. In the scuffle that ensued, they practically tore up a
quarter acre of cotton fighting. Here were two young boys fighting a grown man, strictly over
their love of a horse. As the fight raged, it becamelent that they would probably lose to

Dad. Tom seemingly sensed this too, because when he was offered the opportunity, he ran and
left the matter of surrendering up to Butler.



11

Just as Tom was on top of the fence in his retreat, Dad threw a big treatbot. It hit him in

GKS o6l O1 @ ¢ KAa O dialSRy ¢22vdzil 2L @K 20&1EA wavK&IS®] o |
into the fray with an intensified fury. No one actually won the fight, but no one ran either. |
adzlJL2aS 5F R GK2dAKGO Kdper kespecy/ iedause Bedeff hom&k Adeywr (1 K S
RFea fF30SNE KS NBGdZNYySR FyR 3F@S a2iKSNJ Iy df
Fgles>s KS g1a GKNRIZAK® a4 L dzy RSNRUGIYREX az20KS
with what General McAuliffad to the Germans at Bastogrex b dzii & @ ¢ a2iKSNJ YA 3IF
added a few more words to her reply. Dad tactfully withdrew his ultimatum and stayed. | was

glad. Tom and Butler left home later on, but this was because they had grown into men.

While@A aAGAY3A gAGK . dzif SNJ FYR KA& 6ATFS Ay GKS S|
do some reminiscing, to recall some of our younger days. On this trip, | was driving, and Butler

had opened the gateso Icould drive through. But somelw he got ls thumb caught in the car

door when he got in. We later learned that he had put one hand in the jamb of the door and

closed it with his other hand. His thumb was pretty badly mashed, and | understand he lost the
thumb nail later. After hetoldOliefha ¢A TS0 | yR L GKIFIG KA& YI &KSF
we made no further attempt to restrain ourselves, and laughed heartily at the humor of the

situation. Butler finally saw a little humor in the incident, but he never did about the one

where | sickd Lion on him in the ditch.

Mother was several years older than Dad. We moved away from the Boyd place to the

GDNJ} YRYI LX I OS¢ {2YS 2F GKS O2dzy G NEB LINRPadAd
the Carver house nearby the Boyd place. Mother ledrttet Dad had been philandering with

one of them. She went over there one day, and by a ruse, persuaded one of them to ride aways
with her in the buggy. After riding a short way from the house, Mother proceeded to frail the
daylights out of her with argen persimmon stick until she ran and yelled for help. This ended

5/ RQa LIKAfFYRSNAY3IS & FIENILFa yegzyS 02dAZ R FA

Now dear reader, if you what you have read so far has no interest for you and is quite frankly
boring, then stop here. Because thexdl be more of the same. Certainly, the whole
autobiography will not be of the same material. | expect to reach those events which will make
the total interesting later on.

Once when we lived at the Grandma place, a Grandmother was visiting for atews She

had a small dog, the breed | do not know. It was extremely fat, and | loved to see it run. | got
my pet cat, put it down, and sicked the little dog on it. It was quite a race for a while, until the
cat could reach some point of safety. Fetghthe cat, | repeated this act several times. | had

y2i y20A0SR (GKIFG Yeé LS4 R23I= F YdzOK fFNASNI |y
scene. When | threw the cat down for the fat dog to chase it, my dog joined in the chase, to my
horror. ThecaNB I OKSR I GNBS FyR fSFELSR F2NJ 4KS §NXzy/

grabbed it. The cat fought valiantly, emitting pitiful screams. The fight ended, and my cat was
killed. | froze inside and became very sick. | suffered the pangs ofogultbnsiderable time
and was scornful of my dog.
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brother, Tuck, rode up on a horse. As usual, our dog came out to meet us. But as he

approached, he began to demonate a hostile attitude. He began to circle the buggy, baring

his teeth and growling as if he was ready to attack. My uncle quickly sized up the situation,
dismounted from his horse and herded us together close to the buggy. As the dog circled us,

my unde kicked at him. 1 still remember that although the dog was maddened by rabies. He

still seemed reluctant to harm any of his friends. He circled a time or two more with Uncle Tuck
fending him off of us. Suddenly, he ran off through the yard into a ield and disappeared.

We children could not understand what had happened to cause our pet to threaten us in this

YI Yy SN®p ¢CKIFIG 61a GKS FANRG GAYS L KIFR KSIFNR
the Pasteur treatment was available thenveh if it had been, | doubt we would have had

knowledge of it. In those days, to be bitten by a mad dog was considered fatal.

Ly Ot S ¢dz0] GK2dzAKG KS akKz2dZ R GF1S | aK2d3dzy |
we heard gunfire. The dog was showg every sign of being mad and would not respond to his

calling. That is the only time | recall that | did not weep over the death of a pet. | sensed the
extreme danger.

We enjoyed living at the Grandma place, much more so than at the Boyd placa. yf®al A€t | &
much there as | had been at the Boyd place. | began noticing people and things with more
awareness. In fact, | was too much aware and sensitive when something happened that

disturbed me.

One incident, which disturbed my emotions most of ifig, Ihappened at the Grandma place. It

still does, although | can rationalize it now. The incident affected me, perhaps much more and
deeper than | have ever realized. It is one that remember so clearly. The results | felt keenly at
the moment. In imprtance, severity and emotional damage, this event sands out today as one
of the worse in my younger years before reaching puberty. It was done through ignorance of
the psychological effect that such an act could have on a sensitive youngster. ktdsistre

fact that one should be most careful what he says in the presence of a child. Young children
should be handled with more consideration. This certain even had more to do with my
reactions, actions and emotions than anything | could remember upabtime, and probably

for another ten years, under different circumstances.

It waswA y U S NJb 5IR gl a ¢g2NJAy3a F2NI | yotS . Afftz Yeé
FINY | ¥S6 YAESa lgleo 5+ R ¢2dzZ R amefotthel G | y O
weekend. | am not sure whether Dad would reserve Saturday and Sunday for work on our

place or not. Itis more likely he did not because Uncle Bill, as | recall, was rather exacting of

anyone who worked for him. Most likely, Dad got off wdrkre at noon on Saturdays. In

those days, the worker dictated neither the terms nor the pay of a job. The employer did.

hyS | LI NIAOdz I NJ {dzyRIe>X L y20A0SR 5FR g1 & LN
did. | observed that Dad putonis2 NJ] Of 2 KS&azX |yR GKSy Llzi 2y K
LG dzadzZrffe gl a 5FRQa Odzad2yY Gganddedve Ndblid & ¢ 2 NJ



13

serge suit at our house for wear the next Sunday if we went to church. His only reply to the
guestionof why he was wearing his suit was that it was cold. This sounded a bit thin even to
me, but | accepted it. | noticed my Mother was inquisitive about it, too.

The next weekend, Dad was late in returning home. Even late that night, he had not appeared.

| S RARY QO O2YS K28SRARYQGt | VERPUIUSKEIRNEBIOS oI aod
AT E g2ddA R A2YSUGAYS Ayarad 2y KAY g2NJAy3 Ay
RAGOK®E ¢KSNE ¢SNB y2 (St SL#eustlanethofofi K24 S R
getting or giving information. Of course, mother would ask those who passed by the house if

they had seen Dad. To those nearby, she told the story that he had not come home or sent any
messages. As the news circulated, it came tohdothan Uncle Bill was asking why Dad had

not returned to work that week. Some acquaintance told Mother that he had seen Dad sitting

in the railroad station at Dukes. That was a small community within about five miles of our

house, where the Atlantic @st Line Railroad maintained a station. No one had observed Dad
boarding a train. The acquaintance who saw him in the station had asked him if he was going

to catch a train. His reply to him, as | recall being told later, sounded about as thin as the

reason he gave for wearing his Sunday suit over his work clothes.

¢KS 3INILISPGAYS 2yfeé Nry G2 IOljdad AyialyoOoSa ¢K2 f
and relatives did all they could to find out where he had gone. When no word had been heard

from him for sometime, Mother had accepted the fact that he was gone. Although there was

y20 YdzOK F2dzZ LXle& Ay (GK2aS RI&&azX rhadi KSNJ KI R
vanished much the same wayd had never returned.

There seemed little reaso@fNJ 5 R (G2 RA & LILISI| NI 1S g+ a y2aG L
relatives, as was the case with his father, and he had made no enemies we knew of. He and

Mother had no quarrels. There was no accounting for his disappearance that | could

understand. It wasisiply too complex and mystifying to me why Dad would leave without

ale@Ay3a 3I22Ro0eéS FyR adlre 32yS a2 t2y3 6KSyYy 4SS
attitude, which concerned me greatly. Had | been older | would have surmised a reason for his
disgppearance.

Mother was a bit older than Dad, although they seemed to be happy just the same. As time
passed, Mother became more disturbed, although she never complained. Never did she
become short tempered with us, and never did | hear her condemn hiamyone.

Mother sang one sacred hymn after another, and | listened in sadness. This was while she was

doing her work, and when we rode anywhere in the buggy. Her singing was low and sweet.

She seemed in a dreamy mood, a pensive mood. | listenedyckoselvery hymn she hummed.

This is the reason why | knew the tune of somany sohgs.6 I & &2 Ay UGSyl 2y az2i
cannot remember seeing, hearing or being aware of the presence of any of my brothers or

sisters. My Mother was very dear to me damer sadness affected me and drew me closer to

her. Still | never once thought of any resentment toward Dad. As | recall now, | hardly thought

2F KAY SEOSLI G2 NBFIEtATS (GKIFG KA& RA&L LIISE NI Yy
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recall any disussion Mother had with her friends about the matter. The whole affair, in my
memory, was that he was gone, that Mother was sad and | seemed to be lost in a dream world,
giving Mother all my attention.

One night after we had gone to bed and fallesieep, we were awakened by a knocking at the

R2 2 N {2YS2yS ¢4l a OFfftAy3as dalNE o0Yeé az2iKSNR
mother. My Mother opened the door for her to come in. Dad walked in right behind her, and

he and Mother embracedl| observed this from my bed, and quietly | felt such relief and was so

glad. Dad built a fire in the fireplace, and the three of them sat talking. Dad and Mother

mentioned his disappearance ow and then with levity and humor, seemingly both of them very

glad that he was home while trying to avoid a serious discussion. | cannot imagine having that

much judgment at my age, but | thought it well to lie in bed until a reasonable time after they

met, even though | was anxious to see Dad.

| got out of bed, ad timidly approached Dad from his left side. | came fairly close and stood by

his side, expecting him to reach for me or call to me. | made no movement for a long time. |

wanted him to reach for me. How eager | would have clung to him at that montstiter

a2iKSNI 2N aNBE® / FNNRff GKSYy alFAR (2 5FRY a¢KS

| waited in anticipation for Dad to speak. Thenthiea same levity in which he had been
ALISIH1AYy3a:T KS Gdz2NYySR (2 YS gNQK -0k BBSsth&l | YR RS
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That was all the greeting | received. At that moment, it was much more than | wanted from
him. Up to that time, it had never made any difference that he was my stepfather. Mother had
properly iformed me that he was not my real father, who had died 23 days before | was born.
Heretofore, Dad had been good to me, and | respected him. But after that, | resented him with
every breath | took. Dad, with that remark, had made of himself exactly ndatid | knew he
was-- GO NBFR RIRR®& ®¢ L ySOSNI YAa4aSR |y 2LJJ2 NI
told me to do something, | would kill as much time as | could before doing it. If he rushed me, |
would yell back at him, and continue sassg as far as | felt | could possibly go without

getting a whipping. | never gave an inch of ground to him except when, as a youngster, | was
forced to. There were many times that | would evade his order by involving Mother in one way
or another. Mothe, however, never tried to excuse me, or take up for me, in the face of an
order by Dad. In one way or another, | would outsmart him, and he would not make an issue of
it with Mother.

As a good example, he would give me a chore to do. While he wasdawaysomething else, |

would ask Mother, in some manner, to give me something to @oen | would inform Dad that

L O2dz RYyQi R2 KA&a 2203 aAyOS L |ftNBIFIRe gl a R?2
Dad, | would wait until he had left, anddn rush to Mother, telling her I felt sick. This was easy

to fake because | was sick about half the time until | was 14 years old. | looked like a good
specimen of a hook worm experiment all the time.
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During the hot summer months, | would become illtgdrequently. | would leave my tools, or

the horse and plow in the field, and go to the house. Quite often, Mother would have to give
ma dose of medicine to help me. She would hand me a pill and tell me to get some water from
the pump. | never couldnderstand why Mother was so gullible to think | was going to take
those pills, unless she watched me and forced me to do so. | cannot recall ever having taken a
pill that | could throw away. Maybe it was coincidental, but every time Mother gave mk a pil
and sent me to the pump to swallow it, we would have at least one droopy chicken mopping
around for a day or two.

From the moment Dad returned that night until Mother died, | never saw them have a serious

qguarrel. Furthermore, | never noticed Dad iratie the slightest intention to ever strike

Mother. | watched them very closely if they ever had a small argument. Mother was not

particularly the delicate, sickly or meek type woman. She could, and did, work in the field with
everyone else, andalwayslzii Ay | FdzZ f RI&8Qa 62NJ @ L 0SftASC
g2dd R KIS (K2dAKI KS KIFIR adNHzO] | K2NYySaiQa y
would have mussed him up considerably. | would have helped her too, to show him my

affectionford K+ & a0 NBFR RIFIRR&¢ NBYINJ @ LG aidN¥z01 YS

The only effort at violence between them came from another direction, to my amazement and

his surprise.When Dad gave me a whipping, Mother never interfered by word, act or attitude.

She kept strictlyput of it, which | think was proper. One night, for a reason | cannot recall, Dad

was out to give me a good licking. He had done a fairly good job of it, | thought, when he
accidently got his arm in the way. For the first time in my life, | exhibidnge toward him.

| seized his arm with both of my hands and clamped down on his forearm with my teeth. |
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thereafter that | never had a good whipping from Dad before.

He went to work on me on the back porch, but in some way he maneuvered us into the living

room. | might have gone in there while he was fetching another switch. With a new one in

hand, he started in on me again. All the other times he had whipped megadh@ever become

A2t Sylo .dzi KS g1 a GKAa GAYSO | S gl & 3A2Ay3
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When | grew into manhood and acquired the physical strengttho exactly what | had
promised, | never tried to do it. And thank God, | did not want to. In later years, | could
rationalize the remark in that it came from someone completely ignorant of the psychological
effect such a remark could have on a yosegsitive mind. He made it with no ill intent, but
that was the effect nevertheless. In recalling the incident, | have come to think, with some
psychological reasoning, that Dad realized his error at the time, and that it remained in his
subconscious muohto torture him for some time afterwards.

When Dad made the remarke could not help but notice that | immediately retired from his
side and went to bed without saying a word. | faintly recall that he either said something to me
when | moved away frorhim or he turned his head and looked for me. | vaguely remember
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that he had offended me. But the damage was done, and if he spoke to me, he was completely
ignored. We who have knowledge of psychology know that the telling of an event of this sort
will bring back faint memories of other incidents connected to the primary event. These faint
memories will grow stronger and stronger until they are finally supported by other evidence

and can be accepted as a part of the story.

For instance, | wish to relatbe particulars of an odd incident which took place only a short
time before | began writing. This incident supports my feeling that Dad did take note of his
actions. And although he might have given up all efforts to smooth over my resentment, he at
least made an attempt. Therefore, the incident remained in his subconscious mind and did
torture him to some extent.

When Dad celebrated his 8Mirthday, | was invited to come to Miami, where he lives near

some of his children. | was in North Caroltahe time and sent word that | could not attend.
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response to this, | was told later on, was a warm smile. | have visited him a few times, and once
spent an efire day with him. At the time of this writing, he is still healthy and continues to

maintain a flower and fruit garden, the products from which he sells for a good income. He

owns a nice home and tends his flowers and trees with scientific and sudcessu Even

though he is quite hale, he has some of the defects of age. He cannot see very far without his
glasses.

On one of the visits | made to his home with my sister, we found him at the rear of the house
tending his garden. We called and he aasyd. As we approached him, he stared athug,

O2dz RYQl RAAGAY3IdzA &K dza @ I S NBIFOKSR FT2NJ KA A&
several steps toward usyhich made it obvious he could not see me well enough to recognize

me. This is &/pical example of psychology in action. | feel that | can truthfully say | would

have not been able to understand the deep significance of what happened had | not had more
than an ordirary understanding of psychology.

a® aAraiSNI al A RBewarbslséemed koprdd his ubcars@otsémind into action.

Dad stepped toward me as | remained on his left side. It was the same position in which | was
adFyRAY3I 2y GGKIFG¢e yAIKGOD 2 A0K KAa ST | Nz
strongand affectionate hug. This was the exact manner of affection | had sought from him as a
youngster.

G2 Keé @2dz Nraolftzé KS &alFAR (2 YSo GL KIF gSyQi
with his right hand to a point which was my height whenhade his staggering remark. While

he was speaking, he held me close to him as though | were a child. He smiled with what

seemed to be a pleased satisfaction.

| was quite aware that he acted sort of childish. This was natural. He was returning mentally
those earlier days and reliving a part. He was anxious to make amends for an error he had
tucked away in hisubconsciousnind. He acted out the part for his satisfaction because he
had been prodded and bothered before.
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So many times afterthisiiRiSy 4> L KIFIR GK2dAKGY LayQd GKA& |
old, he gives me the affectionate hug | had so desired when | was young. | must confess,

however, that | did not sift out the full significance of this action until | retold the st@y,aem

doing here. Then it slowly dawned on me. | faintly recalled his actions that night and then |

began to see more clearly the significance of his acts on this particular day. So, | am doubly glad
GKFG L y2d 2yfeé RAR yRWSNINES foadzio §1S10 SINK S | K/ KSR

Returning to the story when | was getting a terrible licking from Dad, violence and danger came

from an expected source all at once. Mother had been sitting in a chair, saying nothing. But
suddenly, she seemingly haden enough. She sprang from her chair, grabbed a smaller chair

and swung it over her head like she would have a shawl. Somehow, he ducked under the blow,
FSYRSR 2FF GKS OKIFIANI YR LlzZtft SR Al 2dzi 2F az2i
attempt to retaliate, while Mother proceeded to give hiome of the soundest cursings | had

ever heard from a woman. She told him in no uncertain terms what a fool she thought he was.
{KS aK2dzi SR (KIFG KS O2dz RyQi ditkeobdshenéelelif R Sy 2
during a lifetime. She said he could injure a child, even kill one, if he did not have enough sense

to know when to stop.

Dad would start to say something, and Mother would interrupt and continue verbally

hammering away at him. Dademed uncertain as to what was going to happen. Mother told

him if | needed a whipping, she would expected him to give it to mdut not another one

like that one, as long as she lived. Furthermore, she warned him he better use discretion in
whipping one of his own children.am convinced she would have swung at a buzz saw at that
Y2YSy iz KIR 2yS ONRaAaASR KSNJI gAaAz2yo L 1y2s
how she held her temper as long as she did. Soon, silence fell upon tnearabthey sat in

chairs, on either side of the hearth. By the next day, the storm has passed.

We moved from the Grandma place to a locale known as the Mill Pond place. It was here that |

first became aware of the years in a century. | have no rec¢miebow long we lived there,
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Charlie, vino had been a loyal worker and friend to us, was getting too old to work. She said we

would have to find someone who coul@ lind to him and exchange us a younger horse for

him. Mr. Goodman, who we were sure would take good care of him, bought Charlie. | saw him

once after that, and never again. Mr. Goodman had sold or traded him. It was sad to me that

we neverknewhowgpRX (1AYR yR 3ISyitS w2tS / KINIAS SyR

Fishing in the Deakle Mill pond, which was within less than a quarierof our house, was
always good. Mother liked fish as a food. Consequently, we went fishing often.

A family of distant cousins &d nearby. One of them was Cousin Ben, who | liked very much.

t SNKIF LA AdG ¢Fa&a 0SOldzasS KS Ffglea OFfftSR az2iKS
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were distart cousins to me. His youngest daughter, May, was about my age. | noticed she was
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pretty. It seemed to me that | liked her better than most girls, who were somewhat of the sissy
playmate type. It was at this time that | realized there was a differeeteden boys and girls,

and that some girls may be fairly nice after all. It even came to the point where May and |
played a little like sweethearts, although we did not hold hands.

For some reason, we moved to the Osgood Green place. It was at the @daeerthat some of
the most important events in the life of a sickly-ydarold boy occurred. We were living here
when Mother and Ad had their confrontation over the licking Dad was giving me. | became
seriously ill here twice. During one of the siekges, | was very close to death.

Not long after we moved to the Green place, | became very impressed with Grandma. She was

a pioneer type. Her husband, who was the sheriff of Jefferson County, resigned and left home

to join the Confederacy. Grandmaged home and fought for the welfare of seven children

while she was providing some of the necessities for the Confederate Army. | admired her

healthy, independent type of attitude. She became ill with typhoid at the age of 70. The two
doctors in the aega decided she would never beat the fever and would be dead in a few days.

They wanted to give her morphine, to let her rest easy until she died. But Grandma decided

not to accommodate them. The doctors should have known that as stubborn as she was, she
would do the opposite of what they expected. She got up out of what was supposed to be her
death bed and lived for almost 20 more years as a morphine addict. She only took a little of it,
FYR Y2al LIS2LX S 0O02dZ Ry Qi S g femis& tWhenLra&imas I & I R
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her death.

Before the South surrendered, Grandma gathered some fodder and hauled it to the officer who

was to receive it for the army. €Hodder was not tied to suit him, so he had some soldiers

throw it over afence to his milk cow. Grandma always used a bit of discretion, and knew that
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on the way. One of her friends stopped and asked her why she was crying. She told him she
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thrown it to his cow. She said she wish she had that cow in her barn, betavsdd never

eat much more of her fodder.
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women of the area quickly, and they herded the cow into the stable. Grandma perched above

the stable door and told the wonmeto drive the cow out. With an ax in hand, Grandma swung

4G GKS 026Qa KSIR gAUK Fff KSNI YAIKGD ¢KS of
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good beef and Grandma said she had a clear conscience at the same time.

When the war ended, Grandpa came home, sick and unable to work. But he kept active
enough to nag Grandma and get in her way. He kept this up until Grandma grabbed him by the
beardandtoldK A Y aKS RARY QO YAYR ¢2NJAy3 YR YI{Ay3
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| knew Grandma had this devilment in her, budvdd her just the same. When we were living

at the Green place, she came to visit us. | was sick at the time, with chills and fever. |
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faking it. All dy Grandma came into my room and tried to make me comfortable. She gave me

some of the simple drugs in use then. But nothing helped. Finally, she dropped to her knees,

put her arm around me and talked to the Lord like they were the best of friends.
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another whimper. 1 slept soundly and was ready to get out of bed the next day.

It always surprised and delighted me to observe the effectiveness Grandma had with her
character. | am sure that she been miffed at amyoshe could have easily fetched a battling
stick and walloped the daylights out of anyone that got in her way.

| recall I was sick again on another occasion when Grandma visited us. | had been taking certain
drugs and was being kept on a very stri@tdi- or rather a starvation diet. | began to feel

frightened and tried to get out of bed. But | was too weak. Then I tried to call to Mother and
Grandma, who were in the kitchen. But as | tried to call, | was completely inaudible.

Fortunately, one bmy sisters saw the predicament | was in and ran to Mother. Grandma

rushed in first as usual. She reached down and took me in her arms and asked me where it
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doubt she was testing me, because she was seated in a rocking chair. | tried to sit up, but my

effort was futile. | was conscious but awfully frightened. Grandma began rocking and chanting.
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were in her voice as she pleaded. Soon afterwards, she asked me a simple question and |

answered her. Then she took me baclboed after | could feebly raise myself up in her lap. As

she laid me down, she whispered for me to rest. In a few minutes, | had all my facilities back.

After that, Grandma left and went to the house of one of her sons. She never did pay us
another lang visit. | was told that Grandma loved my father and sat on the side of his bed with
her arm around him until he drew his last breath and was still in death. When | get to heaven, |
want to ask my father if shgave him the comfort she did me.
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If Grandna was anything, she was a human being with human qualities and an excellent judge

of human passions. | disregarded whatever faults she had and recall that twice she called upon

the Lord and he brought me back to life. She would readily admit she wasex and would
O2y(AydzsS a 2yS dzyiAft aD2R ayl d0KSa YS dzlJ FNR
took a joke on herself as amusing and delightful as if it was on someone else.

Many times when | go to Lake Butler, | go to the New River CemetaiySté Yeé FI G KSNIDa
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there too. The last time | was there, an amusing thought came to me as | looked at her grave. |
aFAR G2 YeaSt Tz atlGrandiné hadldb@richiof dndels drdviled ardtadhéry
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chuckling, because of every time | saw Grandma, she had some sort of devilment going.

There are thosenimy family, on both sides, who cannot accept the fact that people are people,

and that people generally follow a rather genal pattern of life common tall. 1 am sure they

would cast the first stone, forgetting the days when youth and streffigtied through their

veins. | lived those days, and | have not forgotten that others are as human as | was then. If |

am to write that which | remember, | have no intentions of writing only the good. For one
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recall that which we praise and that which we damn.

My brother, who was about 17 years old, was staying with Grandma when she lived at Raiford.

This was a small town then, long before they established the prisomttaere. Also staying

with Grandma then was this matron who, it seemed, enjoyed the pleasures of life. Brother had
found out that she would not cry out, if anyone approached her bower in the dark of night.

With a scheme all worked out, Brother wentlhed. The house was dark, and he could hear

Grandma breathing deeply in her sleep. He was sure that it would be safe for him to do a little

sleep walking. He arose, silently sneaked out of his room and seemed well on his way to gentle
bliss. But then hgvalked into a rocking chair- deliberately laid across his path. In his
Y2YSyildzyz KS O2dz RYyQU &adG2L) FyR (KS OKI AN ONJX
fallen in. He arose, grasping at the hope that Grandma had not awakened. Sil¢énpefel
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reach his bed. The next day, nothing was said about théemat

In what | have written, | am not sure if | have indicated that we were actually poor people. We
were poor, very poor. | may say we had plenty to eat. At certain times of the year, it was good
food. One of the times was when fresh corn, tomata#sa, peas, watermelons, plums,

peaches and other tempting vegetables and fruits were in season. None of these lasted too
long, as the techniques of modern day canning were not known then. Only a few glass jars of
fruit were put up, and a good bit of thapoiled.

There were two othebrief periods when we ate well. Those were at cane grinding time and
hog killing time. The cane had to be ground before the frost came. We would put up some of



21

the syrup in barrels for our own use. The barrels were neealed, though. When the first
hot weather came, the syrup would start to sour. Then it only had a slight resemblance to

syrup.

We dug sweet potatoes and kept them by laying down a heavy carpet of pine straw. The
potatoes were placed on this heaphen there was another heavy layer of pine straw placed

on this heap. Then they were heavily covered with dirt. Generally, they kept well under this
covering, and the older they were, the better they were. Meat was hung in the smoke house.
Middlings, fams and shoulders would keep for months after being smoked and cured. There
was a limited amount of sausage. The lard was fried and stored in big tin cans. If we were
cautious and not wasteful, it would last us the whole year. After cane grindinganHiling

times, we would subsist on a diet of grits, bacon (in limited amounts), biscuits, syrup and sweet
potatoes. For special occasions, like Sunday dinner, we usually had a chicken with rice or
dumplings. We had fresh fish occasionally, maybe tnihi@e times a year.

Also helping out was the practice of ordering a barrel of fresh mullet from Key West. Generally
speaking, | must say that we had plenty to eat, but all of us suffered from some degree of
malnutrition. This was because of the ladkaovariety of good food. We had none of the fruits,
cereals and appetizing foods that children need. If one of us was rosy cheeked and healthy
looking it was purely coincidental. IF one of us was sickly and puay | definitely was- it

was diffcult for him or her to eat a sufficient amount of the food we had to get well. Dad and
Mother tried to get the best things they could for us. | will especially give Dad credit in this
respect. When | was sick for so long, and would mention somethvwoglt like to eat, he

would leave his work and see if he could find it. The other children were sick from time to time
too, and always looked pale except for the best times of the year. It was not easy to feed seven
children and two adults.

We could hae fared much better, if we had had some of the modern day conveniences, such
as a refrigerator and deep freeze. The best in use at that time was an ice box. But it was little
use for our purposes, and we could not have afforded it anyhow. The onlymeread ice was

on the Fourth of July, for lemonade. Occasionally, we would make ice cream. As for milk and
other things we needed, we did not have them.

For transportation, we always had a fairly good buggy, which was used mostly for impressive
purposes If the whole family went anywhere, we had to use the wagon. We always had a

good horse, because we had to have one for work. Our clothes usually consisted of a Sunday

suit and work clothes. We went barefooted most of the time until we grew oldegpxc
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straight through a full term of school after | became big enough to work. We had to stop

attending school to help plant crops and later on to help gathem. The school terms were

short anyway. | entered high school at the Montverde School, a private school, at the age of

19.



22

| was 14 years old in the autumn of 1917. | believe most people would agree that my 1.Q. was
fairly above average for thatge, although my physical stature was more like a youngster of 11
or 12. | was, of course, at the impressionable age. We had lived at the Green place long
enough to be acquainted with the neighbors. | think | had friendly relations with all of them
excdJi ! dzy G Cf 2 NBy OS &wif¥ AunY Rienée JeNikbé quiety Bniwia Shat
they owned our place and that we were just living on it. This did not make us happy because
we knew they owned no part of it. There was no issue made of the matberever.

It was odd that the people for whom our place was named. Osgood Green and family, lived as
2dzNJ F R22AYAyYy3d ySAIKO 2N L OFyQl NBOIff K2g
remember one of his daughters was gathering wood once and w&s on the hand by

something poisonous. It was generally thought to be a moccasin. They had quite a time of it to
save her life. Her hand was gnarled almost to the pointy of being completely useless as a result
of the bite.

At this time, | had no swatheart¢ | thought of Era somewhat. She was a quiet, pleasant girl.

Our pathways to school converged a short distance from her house, and we usually walked
together. Of course, the other children in her family and mine walked with us. | thought it was
YyAOS G2 32 (2 al0Kz22f (G23SGKSNE fiK2dzZa3K &KS$

At the age of 14, | did not have the physical development of that age. There was bound to
formulate natural adolescent thoughts which were also naturally fleetimgme®imes those
thoughts would formulate in the form of a dream. We have all had numbers of dreams in our
lifetime - - some unpleasant, some pleasant, but all having one or more common
characteristics. They were generally nebulous and never quite déany times, they were
mystifying or thought provoking.

One of my dreams went like this:

It was the last day of school. Era and | were walking to school when it started to rain. The only
shelter available at the moment was a pig pen. Pig pens genarallgirty. But this one was

Ot SIyo l'YR AU RARYQG aidAy]l SAGKSNOD ¢ KS NS
and watched the rain fall. The straw tickled a bit, and made you seem restless and feel the
need to move about considerably.IsA, it caused a sudden sharp feeling of bliss for a few
Y2YSyildas K& L RARYQU (y26e

At the time, it seemed as if the pig pen was built there, and kept clean, so people would have
some shelter from the rain. | remember | had on my best Sunday pantsyasdorried about
them getting wet. If I had, Mother would have had to iron them. Era had on her Sunday dress
too.

Laying there with Era, | was thinking about the last day of school. | always liked the last day,
because you always dressed your bestifo The teacher usually had spelling bees then too,
and sometimes would give awards to her best student. | won an award that year, with Miss

gl
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Zada Green, my teacher, presenting it to miénew | was going to receive it beforehand, since

| had crawledunder the school house and heard her commend me to the other students. It
was sort of hard for me to act surprised before all the people when they presented the awards,
since | knew | was going to get one. All I could say was thank you.

The rain and thiaclean pig pen. It was odd that only Era and | had been caught there by the

rain that day. We laid there on the straw, looking at each other, and talking. Even if the straw

did tickle and make you move about, | liked it there. When the rain stoppetiwe began to

ONHzaK GKS &AGNl g 2FF 2dzNJ Ot 2GKSazx L y204A0SR (K
happened to that pig pen. | thought about it a great deal.

| had mentioned that Aunt Florence implied she and her husband, Uncle Tuck, ownpldce.

Ly Ot S ¢dz0O1 32X 6A0K2dzi az2iKSNRa {y2¢f SRIST 2FFSN
and have us give him a warranty deed. From what Dad said, Uncle Tuck said we could pay off

the warranty deed when we could. Uncle Tuck implied theraraty deed was no more

harmful than a verbal promise. But a warranty deed is the best title you can give for land. The

maker of the deed warrants the title assures its soundness and legality. This offer offended

Mother, and she said if we were goingltse the place, we could lose it to Col. Weeks. We had

owed the mortgage ever since we took over the place. Mother had been to sere Col. Weeks

each year and told him we could not pay the principal. She said she wanted to pay the interest,
unless he wared to take the place. Col. Weeks (God bless his name) told her the arrangement

gla FAYS 6AGK KAYOD | S S@PSy altAR AlG slayQid yS
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worried about the money and told Mother not to worry either.

During the autumn of 1917, cotton prices were good and we planted and picked a rather
sizeable crop. On selling the cotton, we carried the proceeds from each sale to Col.uM#eks

we had paid off the entire mortgage. He seemed as happy for us as we were for ourselves. Col.
Weeks had never foreclosed a mortgage on anyone, although he held many. He never lost
money on one either.

How happy we were to have our home, humbteiawas, clear and free of all debt. We also

bought ourselves a car, a Ford. We were one of the first poor families to be able to own a car.

Now we could go somewhere without riding in the wagon. It was not a new car, but it was a
goodone. lcandtif 4SS a20KSNJ daONI LIAYy3IE GKS O2Gl2y FA
so tall that you had to bend the stalk to get to the cotton. When winter came, we had our own

home, a car, good clothes and food, and money in the bank at Lake Butler.

We were p@ple again, not slaves. The best part of it was that we had gotten all this honestly.

The next spring, we had to drop out of school to work in the fields and plant the crops. Mother
O2dzZ Ry Qi KSfLE a4 aKS KIR o0SOawdehodspvdn ¢KS R
though she was not in bed all the time. Anna Funchetts, who lived in one of the tenant houses
2y 2dz2NJ FINYSZ SYyF2NOSR GKS R2002NNa 2NRSNEROD !
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the family. She and her husband David haddyeducations. Wherever Anna was, there was a
Of Syt AySaao LYYl gl ayQl SYLX 2SR (2 KSfL a?
own. She was rather white for a Negro.

Whenever Mother became sick, | was very concerned. | used to watavlgr reaction when

she was ill. Mother had an odd difficulty with her throat. She would begin with a shallow dry

cough, and quickly it would worsen to the point where she would gasp for air. Only a glass of

water seemed to help. She told me that shmast died once because she could not reach a

house and get some water. From that moment on, | was extremely observant anytime Mother
began to cough. Anytime she started, | made sure she could get a glass of water off the table

by her bed, or | would risher a glass myself. If | left home for the night, | made someone
LINPYAAS GKS@& g2dzZ R Llzi + It aa 2F 61 GSNI gAUGKA
her.

One time during her illness, | recall that Mother stood in the doorway and looked dislzdaly

across the fields. In later years, | have been reminded that she surely must have been thinking,
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will walk out in the field for a short whild. RI2 YA Y1 AG At € KdzNIG YS A7
g2dzZ Ry Qi Ldzi dzLd 6 AGK GKIFGo GhK y2 @2dzQNB y2i
NEYAYRSR a2iKSNJ 2F (KS R20G2NDa 2NRSNA O G, 2dz
take care of thesd S@Sy e2dzy3a i SNEKE lyy a1 SRo® az2iKSN
told her she was going to lie down. She did not want the shades drawn, so she could see the

fields. | became greatly concerned when | heard Dad tell one of the other children libaktst

like Mother is going to die, despite all we can do.

Mother had been told she must have an operation. She refused. | can hardly blame her, for an
operation in those days was sheer butchery. If it was a major operation, it was generally
consideredatal. My brother Barney came to visit with Mother, and they were talking while

she was leaning on one arm. Dad had come in from the field. Suddenly, | heard him tell

someone to bring him a pan of water and a towel. | became frightened as there avasial

5/ RQa ©@2A0So® L ANIO6O6SR | LIYysS NHZAKSR G2 (GKS
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he knelt beside Mother, working and calling to her. | returned to the door and looked back,
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although Dad was working frantically. Anna camée door and put her around me. She
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Anna was lying to help me. She knew what was happening. | knew that Mother was not the

fainting kind. Furthermoreno one had to tell me she was dying.
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| ran and ran. | cried and cried until | could hardly breathe. | ran into Uncle Tuck coming to the
house andtold hima 2 1 KSNJ 61 & RSIR® DSyaGafeée FyR gAlK?2dzi
started to run again, crying as | ran. Finally, | stood still and wept in pure deep dark
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desperation. There was now no one | wanted to turn to, or no place | wanted to go. Mother
was mine, and now she was dead. | could think o€misolation, no one | cared fer just

Mother. It was almost more than | could comprehend and certainly a strain on my sickly, weak
body. It seemed as if | was standing in an open broad field, withimgpin front of me. As |

stool there crying, | heard my sister crying. | regained my sense of reality at that moment and
returned to the house.

Dad was leaning on the yard fence, crying. | could not stand all this. | believe | would have

started runnng again, if | had not been so weak. My older brother, Tom, spoke to me, and

a1 SR YS (2 32 K2YS GHAGK KAY®D | R a2yYS2yS yz2
what | would have done or where | would have gone. | would not stay in or near oseho

Mother was in there and she was dead. In such a confused and distressed condition, | actually

built up a resentment toward her for deserting me. | cared for no one else like | cared for her. |
loved her, and she was the only one who cared foramenuch as | liked. She loved me, and |

loved her, and I did everything | could all the time to help her. | harbored the resentment that

she had deserted me, even though it was in my subconscious.

The funeral was held at Elis Chapel at 2:00 pm on Al@23, 1918. Prior to the service, |

returned home after having spent the night with Tom. | was the baby of the Hendricks family,
GKS fl1ad 2F az2iKSNN&a FTANBRIG AAE OKAf RNBYyO® )
position had been enhanced/tihe fact that | had been ill so often in the last few years. | kept
expecting and longing for attention on these last two days because of what seemed like the
hopelessness of my future.

The funeral parlor was virtually unknown in those days and wakbegbnd the means of the

poorer families. Mother was dressed and laid on a cooling board in the house. | came in the

gate behind Tom. | seemed like every seat, and almost all available space, in the house was

taken. There were horses and buggies ewdgre outside. There seemed to be more people

Ay GKS K2dzAS GKIFIYy L KFER S@SN) 4SSy o0ST2NB® ae
attended in 1961.

The mother of Dr. Gatliff, who lived only one block from me in Plant City, had suddenly passed
away. Only the day before her death, she had tbler little granddaughter to ask me if | would
come over to her house. She liked to talk. | was greatly shocked when the doctor notified me
of her death and told me they would take her body to Georgia, forabumia family plot,

following the brief services in the church across the street. | asked, and the request was
granted, to send a pillow bouquet, which was pinned to her dress. | was deeply appreciative of
this privilege. She loved them.

Attheservifaz L NBOFtft (GKS NBIFIOGA2ya 2F DIFNB DIFGfA
years old at the time. When he was a baby, he would cross the lawn many times to trot about

at my heels while | was working. He would go with me to the farm and hadaasional meal

with me. He warmed my heart many times when he would throw his arms around my neck and
alresx aL f20S @&2dzpe ¢KS OKdzZNOK gl & Fo2dzi 2yS
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to me. When Gary saw me, he broke from his family and rant to my side. | naturally put my

arm around his should and drew him close, | dared not say anything to him as | knew he was

the heart and soul of Granny, who heved very much. As we walked through rows of parked
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As | entered the yard gate at our home, | paused and looked into the house. | saw what | did

not want to see- - my mother lying on the cooling board. There were those gathering around,
preparing to put her body imtthe casket. The sight was almost unbearable. | walked on

026 NR GKS NBIFIN 2F (KS K2dzaSo la L LI &aasSR (K
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the most heartwarming gesture that had been made to me since Mother died. Aunt Sarah

pulled me upon the porch and sat me beside her on a bench. | always loved her, and always

will.

a 2 (i K &abkBXavas placed in a heavy pine box and placed on a wagon Oyaiwmo fine

horses. As the driver moved the team toward the cemetery, single riders and horses and

buggies lined up behind. | cannot recall if | was riding with my oldest sister, Amanda, and her
husband, John, or with someone else. But it seems a#iif, After surveying the length of the

O2NI SIS &aFAR G¢CKAA aK2ga K2g FIN KSNI fAIKIG &

| remember every detail of the burial. The cortege wound its way past many farms. At a rather
large farm, | recall there wereraumber of Negroes hoeing cotton. A Negro woman asked who
was being buried. On being informed, she hung her head and leaned on a fence, crying. The
others stood at attention. | shall always appreciate the honor shown.

Elzys Chapel Cemeterywas odef (U KS 2t RSad Ay (GKS O2dzyieéeo al
been buried there and others have since. | recall her final resting place was a clean, dry plot on
a rolling hill. I cannot say it was beautiful, but it was attractive.

The box containing the ckst was turned upside down, and the casket was set upon the box
beside the grave. The customary manner of conducting a funeral was to open the casket, with
the minister standing at the head of the body. Several well known hymns were sung and the
ministerdelivered the sermon. Following a prayer, the family and friends of the deceased were
invited to walk by the casket and view the remains for the last time. As the last persons filed
past, the singers would sing a final song. While a few men held gkecathers turned the
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box over. The casket was placed in the box and a top was fastened with heavy screws. Ropes
were placed under the box and the pallbearers would slowly lower it into the grave. As a final
act, the box was covered with earth.

During the ceremony, | had paused well out on the edge of the crowd. | wanted someone to
give me some attention and help. But no one did. | stood crying as the people were filing past
the open casket. Someone took me by the arm and asked me if | wantee tdather. | was
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observedher face being extremely pald.turned awayand was led to a chair. | cried openly,
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| returned home with Dad ahmy brothers and sisters. | stayed there about 10 days,

developing the feeling that this would never be my home. Even though I loved my brothers and
sisters, | had the feeling that | should never submit to the authority of Dad since Mother was
gone. Wih the assistance of my brothers and sisters, | ran away, never to return except for
short visits.

On leaving, | began a completely different life.
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CHAPTER I

Convict. . . or?

In the lives of many of us there have been times whieecause of our aains, inclinations and
emotionsg it was difficult to know how thin the line was between condemnation and success,
between citizen and conviethow near we came to one and attained the other.

Shortly after Mother had died, we went on a weekd visit. Eactly where, | cannot recall.
Returning home, | could not decide whether or not | was going to leave home. My older
brothers and others advised me to leave. But Miss Liza Dukes (God bless her memory) advised
to remain with the other children. She toide they would need me and, also, that | would miss
them.

| remember | definitely made up my mind. | did not want Dad to ever lay a hand on me again.

To me, it was a matter of getting along with hgna condition | was skeptical of maintainigg
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anything when | left him. | had dull pangs of regret that he did not care, while harboring a deep

wish that he did care so that | would be able to respond. In gpitey resentment toward

him, he was the only father | had ever known.

Just after we returned home from that particular weekend visit, | sat on the porch and gazed

out across the fields in a hatbntented, pensive mood. Dad started to walk toward tledds,
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My contemplation was shattered! His forceful demand and strict tone of voice were

unreasonable. | will swear to this day that | believe Dad, at the moment, was going into the
fieldswithhist 322 R Of 21 KSaé¢ 2y @ L 320 dzLJz ¢Syl Ayd?2
could stand another encounter with him. He had never been so rude before.

| was told later that my Uncle Tuck lectured Dad and told him he must teach me, in the

beginningto do what he said, and to do it promptly! He also told Dad | should be taught who

is the boss. | do not know whether this was true or not. But | do know, whatever the reason,

this made up my mind promptly. Dad was not going to tolerate any deviatiomglulge me in

theleastcl YR L gt & 32Ay3 (G2 aSS G2 AdG GKFG KS g2dAf
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live with Uncle Dennis.
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Deciding to leavd, suddenly realized | would become on orphan boy. | gave myself a few

moments of meditation in retrospect. But | quickly dismissed them, because | was about to

Saol LSs: F2NBYSNE F+ff 2F 51 RQa | dziK2NAdeod 2Kl
under my arm. | walked through the woods toward Dukes Station. A passenger train bound for
Jacksonville as due at nine in the morning. It generally was on time, and | tried to arrive at the
station to meet it.

| had been watching Dad, very carefullg,he worked the field. | did not want him to see me in
the woods, because it would be obvious to him what | was up to. | had a secret compact with
my brothers and sisters that if Dad discovered my absence, they would say they knew nothing
about it. Itwould take Dad a few minutes to overtake me on a horse if he found out in time.
Failing to do this, he would still have a few minutes to call the sheriff at Lake Butler and have
me yanked off the train. | understand that he did call the marshal in iRlagiod asked that | be
held for Uncle Dennis. Whether or not he contacted the marshal, and whether or not the
marshal contacted Uncle Dennis, | cannot say. But | was not hindered in any way. | made my
escape.

Ly Ot S 5SyyAasz 2y S hélrs, asked Mothér & Winas tRldt iReSchidied NP (i
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around. All of his sons were grown and away from home. Uncle Dennis was rich, and | looked
forward to having god clothes to wear all the time. Since he had a store, | though, perhaps, |

could work there and maybe even get free candy and drinks. When school started, | would be

able to attend for a full term without having to drop out to help plant and gather srop
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and spent the afternoon looking around town. When Uncle Dennis came home, | had supper
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meal. Uncle Dennis asked me if | wanted to work and live with them as one of the family, or, if |
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| promptly replied that | would prefer to work asamemb& o 6§ KS FIF YAf & @ L RA
but it surprised me to realize | was going to have to work. Uncle Dennis was rich, | was sure,
FYR L O2dzZ RyQd NBOFff KAY S@OSNI KIFI@Ay3a altAR Yy
him.

GhK ¢St f I érelould noBbk BWRIZgo daj dad | have good clothes. School would be
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Uncle Dennis told me to wear some work clothes in the morning and promised to tell me what
he wanted done. Aunt Sarah showed me to mymo This was one compensation, at least!

For the first time in my life, | had my own room. The bed was clean and all the furniture
appeared attractive. | went to bed, but sleep did not come quickly, because | was thinking of
the sudden turn of events.
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| was awakened the nest morning by Aunt Sarah poking the bedroom floor with a broom
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eat too well. When Uncle Dennis finished, he told me to come with himpume to work

piddling job, saying that when I finished it, he and | would go to the Cason place. It was early

for a rich man to be at work and early for him to be putting me to work, although | had gone to

work much earlier at home. He went to the stoand to the mill. After awhile, he came back
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We went to the Cason place and attemptiedwork some cattle, changing them to a different
FAStERO® L RAR y20 aK2g YdzOK | LJGAGdZRS FT2NJ GKAA
was evident he thought | was practically useless on this job. He assigned to other tasks that day
and, frankly, 1 did not show much aptitude or enthusiasm about any of the work. | felt | had not
come there to work and was simply playing out the time until school started. This was early
May ¢ long before school would open. | felt that Uncle Dennis, beirg dicd not need my

work when he had so many other men working for him. At that time, he was considered a
smart, wealthy businessman. He owned his haptiee finest one in the little town of Raiford.

He owned a twestory brick building, housing a genemérchandise store and a bank. He also
owned a cotton gin, grist mill, six farms of varying sizes, and the equipment and animals to do
the farm work. He would finance a farmer for whatever fertilizer, feed, food and clothing, he
needed until his crop wasiade. Then the farmer would pay him back by selling the produce

and giving him the money. Also, the farmers would sell their cotton to Uncle Dennis. Since he
had gins, this was the most acceptable method of paying bills.

| grieved about Mother a godait, especially when | was alone. Uncle Dennis assigned me one
small job after another, and | never did any of them very quickly or well. Finally, in desperation,
Uncle Dennis assigned me to assist someone else to do something, since | did not daneell al
Slowly, | became discontented. Some weeks later, | had not received the good clothes |
expected, any money, or even a piece of candy. I, of course, always had plenty to eat.

| went to the Cason place one day. My older brothers had moved theskaecrop. One of

them was getting his bait and tackle ready to go fishing. Seeing him with his cane pole made
me remember this was the sort of fishing | had been used to at home. The sight immediately
caused a strong case of nostalgia, and | becamerdizcontented to remain with Uncle

Dennis. His wealth did not benefit me directly and immediately. | then went to live with one of
my brothers.

| did not stay with the brother very long, so | came back to Uncle Dennis again. If | was a bit
slothful onmy first stay with him, my grades surely did not improve during my second stay. His
grandson was visiting with him, and this gave me someone to connive with.

Connive we did! His grandson was not old enough to be expected to do much, and so | happily
followed suit. He sent us to the farm once riding fine horses. Both of us rode well. We raced
the horses as much as possible, even though it was hot weather. When Uncle Dennis found
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because | had become restless again.
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| then went to live with another brother, Butler. | was a bit more contented, because near his
K2dzaS fAQOGSR || O2dzaAy ¢6A0K gK2Y L O2dz R NERYLD
them. My cousin and | took him into our society and, between the three of us, we could get

into enough mischief to keep us fairly content. We got our hidesadranfew times.

While living with Butler on the Drew Addison place, three important things happened. First, |
attended school. It was a country school at Johnstown. | took advantage of the quality of my
teachers. | began in the sixth grade and, algjothe term was short, | passed to the seventh
grade. Butler had planned on me helping him with his crop when school was out. But I was in a
restless age at that timeg a dangerous age the age when a youngster is unstable.

| slipped away from Butlemal went back again, to Uncle Dennis. Right after supper on the day
| returned, we had a talk. |told Uncle Dennis that if he would let go to school during the next
term, | would work hard and try to earn my keep. He counseled me.
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Now if you leave, he will be caught with his plans which will result in waste. You can do a lot of

work if you will. You are growing up now. At your age and size, | did a lot of Woukshould

go back and stay with Butler until he lays by his crop. (This was an expression used in those

days to indicate a farmer had done all the work necessary to grow the crop and would not work

on it any more). After that, if you want to come bdwre and do the work given you until
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place once, and act that resulted in him coming after me. He gave medatigahingg

punishment which | resented very much. He told me | would have to stop running from one

place to another and would have to stay with him. He had not reckoned with my

determination. | had no intentions of letting someone else threaten mgpemdence. A few

days later, | ran away again to Uncle Dennis.

I might have been small and puny, but | was not quite stupid. In fact, if | became determined, |
could match wits with most common folks. My maneuver of running away to Uncle Dennis was
anopen and defiant declaration of my independence. | knew Butler would not come to Uncle
Dennis to enforce his edict. | returned shortly afterward and advised Butler that Uncle Dennis
had told me to help him (Butler) with his crops, and then | could ddricle Dennis and attend
school. | made it clear this was what | intended to do. There was no issue raised.

In the talk | had with Uncle Dennis, | assured him | would not shirk work the way | had in the
past. | told him | would do whatever work he asgid me. Upon finishing it, | promised |
would report to him for the next job he had in mind. | told him | would keep busy as long as he
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had something for me to do, and to complete it to the best of my ability. | also promised that
when school opened,would work hard with my books and ask teachers for help to pass in
school. | realized | had skipped two grades, and that it would take some extra effort to pass the
seventh grade, since | could not take advantage of teachers in the Raiford School. efdey w
more competent and would require more thorough work. But | was determined to succeed at
both work and school because | wanted to be a success like Uncle Dennis.

Aside from being a shrewd business man, he had been a representative for Bradford County
and a state senator. He had been a close friend, advisor, and confidant of Gov. Cary A. Hardee.
| found this out to my social advantage in Washington at a later date. He was also a close friend
of Sen. Doyle E. Carlton, who became governor. It wasigiirthis early friendship and close
harmony that Gov. Carlton and | are close friends.

Uncle Dennis also became a confidant, guide, and savior of a rather disreputable governor of
the state. In fact, it was Uncle Dennis, through his influence and digpméo kept this man
from serving a sentence in the state prison, or at least from being indicted for malfeasance in
office.

| have been told that if Uncle Dennis had the speaking voice for a campaign, he could have
become governor of Florida. S my dedb emulate him became a determination. As a youth,
when | became determined, it was difficult to extinguish that determination!

When | stayed with Butler, the terrifying epidemic of influenza struck the nation. The carnage

was awful to behold! Mantimes there was none left in a household able to help the others.
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was spared so she could wait on us and help pull us through.

After helping Butler lay bey his crop, | thought | would like to visit one of my sisters for two or
three days before | returned to Uncle Dennis. | slipped away to see Mable who lived a few
milesaway. | sneaked off in spite of the independence | professed, because | not care to flaunt
it in the face of Butler or his wife, Ollie, who was always good to me. | spent one night with
Mable, and intended to stay a couple more days to rest. But the day, Butler drove up and
asked me to come back to his house. | thought, for a moment, that he had become
unbalanced, and knew for sure he had if he thought | was going to return. He insisted on me
going back with him, and | refused.
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| was skeptical, but | went with him anyway. The next morning, | waited for Butler to make the
first step. He and Ollie made a frontal attacked that confused and confounded me.
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| felt disarmed and limp. | knew each of them felt deeply what they had told me. | was
convinced theyhad no designs on keeping me when | wanted to leave, and this action simply
was their human desire to make my last days with them easy and pleasant. This was the way
they could compensate me for the work | had done. As they continued to speak, | stbod w
my eyes diverted thinking. Their kindness and suggestions held out an inviting situation, but |
had promised Uncle Dennis | would work and study hard and | was ready to get about the
business of convincing him. | meekly told them that Uncle Demmigd know that their crop

was laid by, and he would be expecting me to begin living up to my word.

Both Butler and Ollie protested, saying Uncle Dennis did not need me that badly. They kept
insisting | stay a few extra days. | said nothing more. pleaded a bit longer, and then
sauntered off toward one of the fields. | knew exactly what they were going to do. Even
though it was early, they were headed for the watermelon patch to pick out a ripe melon.

As soon as they had gone out of sight, | (sdmy small suit case which contained all my

clothes and moved out rapidly through a corn field toward Uncle Dennis. In the field, | hid from
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one | have nevebeen able to understand and one which | resented for so many years. Even

though it dumbfounded me, it also proved to be one of the finer things in my life. It caused me

to mediate deeply on the treachery of man on one hand. On the other hand, it shihaed

man can display kindness, goodness, helpfulness, sympathy, and an anxiety to rush to the aid of

a deserving human being in need.

From the display of the goodness and kindness in people and the help they gave me when |
needed it badly, | must tell dhe most shameful, degrading, and regretful periods of my
youthful years. It was a period for which | prayed for forgiveness and for which | was forgiven
after | had reformed. With the help of the Holy Spirit, | vowed | would never commit such acts
again Thank God | have not committed another one to this day! | am the only person who
knows of these things, but I could not be true to myself and to my memories if | did not tell the
bad along with the good. This is especially true, in light of the fedtltwill comdemn the acts

of others in these writings. 1 tell of these things because it is not too likely that any of us are
without fault. Even though we have reached high places and have attained our ambitions, we
still are human beings. | am gladan recognize this.
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Butler sand Ollie searched the watermelon field. They picked what appeared to be the best
looking melon and returned to the house. They found me gone. They put the melon down and
paid no attention to it for several days. It wagamt to be shared three waysand only two

were present. When they did cut it, they found it to be barely pink and hardly edible.

| was sorry to miss the several days of pleasant leisure with Butler and Ollie. | have made up for
that loss many times ilater years. | have enjoyed many jaunts with them since then.
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the next morning to report to work. After leaving my clothes in my room, | went to Uncle

Dennisand asked him if there was anything he wanted done. He found work for me

immediately. From that time until school opened, | made it a practice of finishing a job, and

then asking him what he wanted me to do next. It did not seem to make any differemce h

hard | worked, Uncle Dennis never commended me for doing a good job. There were times

when there were only one or two hours of the day left, and | would have to start on a fresh job.
During the long hot summer months, he never left me off early ortte.always gave me

another job, no matter what the circumstances.

| was only 16 at the time and had the physical stature of a boy of 14. | was pale and not too
strong from the standpoint of muscle. Uncle Dennis found a job for me which took me
practicaly all summer to complete. It was one which left its marks, both physically and
psychologically, on me to this day.

There was a sawmill east of Raiford, where Uncle Dennis brought lumber. He gave me the job
of driving a team of mules and wagon which leglithe lumber. | proceeded on the task and
immediately found out quitting time would vary sharply. One day, | would be able to arrive
home, unhitch the mules, feed them, and get to the house in time for dinner. But the next day,

| might not arrive homeintil as late as nine at night. 1 would still have to unhitch the mules and
feed them before | could go to the house. In feeding the mules, | had to get corn out of the
barn, shuck it, and fetch either fodder or hay. This, within itself, was quiteka tSometimes,

the grandson would have the feed ready for the mules and was | ever grateful! Generally, | was
so tired, | was not sure | could even make it to the house. Usually | had a cold supper if |
wanted anything. | must say that Aunt Sarah alsvegw to it that there was plenty of food, but
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From time to time, | wondered if this was the price | had to pay for an education and the
attainment of my ambition to emulate Uncle Dennis. Was | ambitiguistaought! Aside from
working long hours and not having an excess of energy, | had to load the green lumber which

had been sawed the day befocegenerally tweby-fours, two-by-sixes, and ondy-sixes. To

load heavier pieces, | had to put one end oe tiear wheel of the wagon and pull the other end

up. This actually was too much for a lad of my build, but I did not complain. | always managed

to get it loaded and generally delivered it according to schedule. Aon occasion, one of the mill
hands wouldcome out and help me. | really appreciated that aid. This help enabled me to

make my schedule easy. Once, on delivery a load, the wagon broke at the Cason place. It was a
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coupling. That piece which holds the front and rear wheels together. Wheakieball the
lumber fell to the ground. | could not fix the coupling, so | went to ask the aid of one of Uncle
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It was a red hot afternoon, and | almost fainted while Ben and | were reloading the lumber on

the wagon. BennibA OSR L 221 SR LItS FYyR Fa{SR YS AT |
my reply was, but | recall he laughed at me. | was certain no one had taken notice of the

difficult work |1 was doing and the many hours | was putting in. | was being put throwigh af

fire! And | did not come through it without scars, although | did what | had set out to do.

| wrote of the physical and psychological effects this work had oq arel still does to this day.

On one of the days when | would not return home illgte at night, | had a difficult time.

Mules¢ especially a team of mulegsare difficult to handle. This day, | was on my way to the

mill. The roads were not paved, and, consequently, deep ruts were worn into the ground. The
mules would invariablget the wagon wheels out of the ruts. The driver of a lumber wagon

had no place to sit or stand, because of the way the lumber had to be loaded.

The team was cooperating with each other at the moment, to keep the wagon out of the ruts. |
wasstanding on the small bit of space available when | whopped the mule on the right of his

rump so he would move into his proper position. The wagon somehow fell back into the ruts,

and | became unbalanced. | fought desperately for a moment to regain lagdea But |
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under the wagon. But | failed to do so, and my foot became caught in one of the race chains.

The mules became frightened and | was dragged sdistance.

Finally, my foot came loose. Just as | started to raise up, the rear wheels of the heavy wagon

ran over both my legs. Fortunately, no bones were broken, but my legs were extremely sore

for some time. The real damage was to my ear. | ddknow how it happened, but almost

half of my left ear was completely cut off in the accident. Nowadays, it is possible for a victim

of such an accident to have a doctor successfully sew a severed piece of ear back on. But these
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A lady living up the road where the accident happened forced the mules into a woodpile. She
came rushing to me and asked if | was hurt. | told her that the wagon had run over my legs, but
that they did not hurt muhb. | asked her to look at my ear, and she told me half of it was gone.

| began crying, and she took me by the arm and led me to her house. There, she washed the
side of my head with soap and water, and then bandaged it. After thanking her, | climbtled ba
on the wagon and drove back to Raiford.

| had the oldfashioned notion my injury would require medical attention. | put the mules into
the lot and went to the store where | told Uncle Dennis what happened. After hearing me
relate details of the acceht, he commented that | had probable gone to sleep and fallen off

the wagon. This could be interpreted as nothing more or less than calling me a liar. And he did
not mention a doctor or even look at my ear, so | went on to the house. | cannot comgpletel
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recall if Aunt Sarah rbandaged my ear or not. Perhaps the lady had taken of it properly. It
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street to care for a leg wound. She knew what to do, and | ciyhassume that she dressed it

or approved of what the helpful lady had done.

| went to my room. Somehow, the door locked either automatically or by my action when it
closed after me. | had no reason for locking it. | laid down across the bed. unwesed to
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window. Wash, who along with Addie were always kind to me, seemed sympathetic. He told
me Uncle Dennis wanted me to come down to the store. Althougary | was sure Uncle

Dennis was going to send me to the doctor. But arriving at the store, he told me to sit on one

of the benches in front. With him at the time were his grandson and Wash.

The shock of being awakened from a deep sleep and being ireanywork seemed to be the
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and spoiled all my promises and thwarted my ambitions. | was not supposed to take exception

to what the one | was emulating had saidsat on the bench without saying a word.

Uncle Dennis came out and told me | had better try to get my sleep in bed, hereafter and not
on the job. Then he laughed. Next, he informed me | better try to keep awake a little better
because his grandson thidaken my girl away from me. He laughed again. Sleeping on a wagon
tongue is not very safe, he declared, and laughed again. | may be that he could get his
grandson to go along and drive for me, since he had done a good job of taking my girl friend
awayfrom me. Again he laughed.

| did not hear sensible thing he said the whole time he was talking. Finally, he seemed to

realize that he was the only one who was getting any laughs. Even his grandson and Wash
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sympathy from him, nor did | get to go to the doctor. Uncle Dennis was not drinking. Shortly, |

was left alone on the bench. | meditated on these strange actions. | could see no purpose in

them, sincd had previously told him | had not fallen asleep. He could have gone out and talked

to the lady who bandaged my head if this was a real issue. | do not know if he ever inquired

about it or not. If he did, he never excused himself to me for having rmadistake.

The next morning, | got up and went to work hauling lumber as if nothing had happened. Uncle
Dennis never mentioned the affair again.

As mentioned earlier, the incident caused physical and psychological effects, which bother me
to the presenttime. | had two plastic surgery operations performed on the ear at Johns
Hopkins Hospital in later years. The ear is a very sensitive part of the body. After each
operation, it was at least six months before | could sleep on it. Because of thehaaind

suffer, | decided not to go go ahead with three more operations that were needed to
completely restore the ear. As aresult, | am quite aware of how it appears to others. | am
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inclined to turn my right side to anyone | am talking with, if at agble. | am very self
conscious of it if | notice someone looking at it while | am talking with them.

| am glad | said nothing to Uncle Dennis. | had nothing to gain by replying. For once in my life, |
kept quiet when | should have. This is rarerfeg! | even had a couple of snappy answers
ready that | could have given Uncle Dennis, but | did not seem to care.
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would not fall asleep at work if you wouldvg me an hour or two of rest and time enough to
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Concerning his comment that his grandson had taken my girl away from me, | could have
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But why should I tell him this! | had come to him with purpose and ambition, and | could not
afford anger or argumnts.

| finished hauling the lumber and he put me at one job after another. | continued my practice
of coming to him for another job when | finished one. Uncle Dennis always had another job
ready.
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Dennis said.

We misunderstood each other. Uncle Dennis assumed | knew where Mrs. Alvarez lived, and |
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The names are very similar, Cleavy (Sapp) and Leavy (Alvarez). After riggimgeheitio

harness, | came back to the store and waited for Cleavy. Uncle Dennis came out of the store
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This 1 did, and then | returned to the store to see what he wanted me to do next. But he had
left the store, and | could not find him anywhere. Rather than break my promise to frmve
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one job to another, | went out to one of the farms and joined the men in pulling fodder. | had
to walk home after quitting time, and this made me late for dinner. When | came in, Uncle
Dennis asked me where | had been. 1told him. For once, ftegkeet.

On Sunday afternoon, Uncle Dennis was going to take a trip. He told me to accompany him,
although | would have preferred to remain at home. His so, Hamp, was going to drive and his
grandson was coming along, too. Up to this point, Uncle Bemm not given me a stitch of

new clothing. | remember Aunt Sarah had gone to the store to get me some new underwear,
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altering it to fit me. It was one ohe oldfashioned shirts with a detachable collar. It certainly

would not have been my choice of dress. It looked ridiculous and made me feebsstfious.

Uncle Dennis made remarks about it two or three times on the trip, and he seemed to enjoy a
laugh at my expense. This reminded me of his remarks when | lost part of my ear. Again, | said
nothing.

Finally, the four longest months of my life ended. School opened! | was delighted to learn that
the principal would be Lex Green, an energetic young mhao became county judge and later

a U.S. Congressman. | knew | would have a difficult time keeping up in the seventh grade,
because the next year before | had skipped from fourth to the sixth. | managed to pass in the
sixth mainly because of the incomignce of the teacher in that small country school. | was
determined to succeed and began working at my books and getting help from teachers when |
could. When school was out each day, Uncle Dennis would have some chores for me. Among
the many jobs wasne to take leakage and spilled grain to the hog pens and feed it to his fine
Duroc hogs. As a result, | almost always had to do my studying by oil lamp at night.

| managed to get off to a good start, and that is half the battle in school. Get a goodrsd
then fight to hold it! | had been going to school for nearly two weeks and was enjoying it,
despite the evening work and the night study. Then the roof caved in!

One morning, Uncle Dennis found the gate to the hog pen open and his fine hoggarere

He immediately asked me if | had forgotten to close the gate when | fed them the night before.
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| told him | always poured the grain over the fengeg into the trough. He told me the hogs

were out, and that he wanted me to round them up after school. | search all over town, asking

a number of people if they had seen them. Uncle Dennis even joined me in the search, but we
O2dz Ry Qi ¥ HeftiRg oin théSnvatter, it degfns BtfEinge that they did not come back to

their regular feeding place in the evening. It appears to me they were let out and driven or

hauled away.

Uncle Dennis and | met at the pens that evening about dusk. We stood deag@mnst the

fence of the pen with the feed trough just beneath us. We were talking about the hogs. Uncle
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not believe he meant it. | thought that he had said it in a moment of anger, and | waited for
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help but think that this is a sorry situation. Here | have worked four months with no pay. And
after going to school for only two weeks, he asks me to find another place to stay. Now | have
no place to turn. Are my ambitions goinglie thwarted? Suddenly, | am left without any
certainty as to what my future will be. No security, nothing!

| cannot recall whether | spent the night at his home or whether | had any dinner. All |

remember is that the night passed and he still did@K | y3S KA a NXBIjdzSaido L
to school the next morning, or if it was a weekend. All | remember of the moment was the

shock.

One thing, | do remember, which amazes me until today, is the rapidity with which news of this
circulated aroundhe community. Naturally, | had to find a place to stay, but | did not run

around publicizing the fact that Uncle Dennis had asked me to leave his home. | did not criticize
him. | guess this was because he had been my favorite griskeone | was emlating. |

assume his political standing inspired some awe. All | can guess is that he did not hesitate to
tell others that he had asked e to leave. This could have been a defensive act.
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to come and stay with them. This would have been an attractive invitation, had it not been that

their house was quite a distance from town and a long distance to walk. Anyone walking from

town to their house also had taass a creek something | knew | would dread to do at night

especially. | was fond of Aunt Tenny, and she reminded me a lot of Aunt Sarah. Each of them

was fairly tall and a bit slender. Each was pleasant but stern. They both kept clean houses and
prepared good food. | spent one night with Aunt Tenny and explained my apprehensions to

her. She said | was welcome to her home anytime, and if | could find a better place to live, she
would have no objections. My father was the only brother of five garisl they idolized him.

The next day, | received a message. It came from Mrs. Cason, who operated the only boarding
house of the small town. She said if | would perform some chores and help her around the
place, | could life there free. | accepted loéier and moved what belongings | had to the

house that day. | thought the arrangement was sort of ridiculous for two reasons: First, the
chores were so easy, and secondly, Mrs. Cason had a#babié husband and two rugged sons
who could help. The fabshe served was good, and there was plenty of it. | was not nagged
about being in at night on time, and | was able to relax.
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In addition, the principal of the school boarded there. My uncle had married his sister. Lex was
always cheerful and helpfuSome time later, the only doctor in town, Dr. Johnson, saw me in

the drug store one day and he had a talk with me. He told me | did not look well and that he
wanted to give me some treatment that would make me look alive and start me on the road to
beconing a man. Part of his offer was for me to live with him, his wife, Tommy, and their baby
at their home. He wanted me to do some odd jobs around his place. When he got me
straightened out, Dr. Johnson said | could go back living with Mrs. Cason. Sgrttekdruck

me as a mighty attractive offer. Again | knew it was pure philantrophy, but he put it in such a
way that | could not take offense. He wanted me to explain it to Mrs. Cason first, and see if she
could get along without me for awhile. Thesopably had already connived to get me over to

his home. When | mentioned it to Mrs. Cason, she thought it would be a good idea, and good
for me. This turned out just as the doctor had said he wanted it to. He gave me hookworm
medicine and other drugshich | needed. | began looking and feeling better. 1 liked living with
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house.

When school ended. | was promoted from the seventh to the eighth grade. Dugng th

summer, | went to South Florida where | worked and saved my money so | could return to
wEAT2NR FYyR 32 (G2 a0K22t GKS ySEG &SI N® L NB
advice, | loaned a good bit of my money to my brother. He proceedddn& it up as fast as

possible, and | never did get it back.

| then began living with Charles Jones and his almost infantile wife. | had nothing with which to

pay my board, and he would not hear of my quitting school. A railroad worker, he told me he

would manage some way. He as a true Christian and lived it. It was difficult for him to make
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Mrs. Cason had two sons and a daughter, Loca Lee. Loca Lee later acquired a large share of
Coca Cola stc She and | got along fine, but the boys and | ignored each other. | did not need
them, and they did not need me.

Mrs. Cason owned the small store building beside her boarding house, and | was given the
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shine shoes to get some cash to buy the things | needed. | had a fair amount of clothes,
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Although Mrs. Cason was rgerous in offering me free room and board, the arrangement did

not include any money. | picked up a dollar now and then doing odd jobs and was able to get

along while completing the eighth grade.

We had a very unfortunate series of events in school ytegtr. The first principal was beaten
severely for no real reason. A senseless father assaulted the principal, in the presence of
students, because he was mad over his daughter having been kept in after school hours. Later,
when the principal came to tow the father assaulted him again. He kicked him as if he was a
dog. The principal was gone the next morning.
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Another principal was employed. Even though he as a good man, he immediately found out

that things were out of hand. Because of the previgwsdent, some students predominantly

older and largerboys K R (I { Sy 2@SNJ 6KS &a0OK22f o 'S YSi ¢
attempt to straighten out the mess, but he had no success. The new principal then called on

the school board to close the sabidor the year. 1, of course, prayed the board would not

close it, because | wanted to finish the eighth grade. The board refused, and the principal

resigned.
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sdhool year was completed without further incidents and | passed the eighth grade. | was

proud of having passed, especially after Uncle Dennis had asked me to leave his home when |

was so anxious to go to school. He admitted to someone that | was takisglmgling

seriously. The year was the last | attended a public school. My schooling, thereafter, both high
school and college, was in private institutions.

At this point, it seems as though the orphan boy has carried his ambitions well on the road to
success. This is true, but not all it seems. Here | must make those disclosures which | consider
shameful acts. They are acts which | would not commit again. | know the Good Lord above has
pardoned me for them, and | am no longer afraid that these actdd happen again. The

shame is all the deeper because these shameful, sinful acts were committed against those who
had helped me after | was thrown out of what | thought | had earned as a home.

| can think of many ways in which | could reldtese acts in a refined way. | could also lessen
the blow, somewhat, by offering extenuation for them. But | am not going to do either. They
simply boiled down to my being a thief. | stole from those who came to my aid when | needed
it most. There iso way | can justify this in my mind and soul. | simply stole money because |
wanted some money. While | could always some money, | could have done without it just as
easy.

Many times while | was working for Uncle Dennis, he would give me the keys sidte so |

could get feed for the stock. Never once did | take, or even touch anything. Not so much as a

piece of gum or a stick of candy. There were times when his grandson would go with me.

Often, he would want to get some candy or gum, but Iwgu@dd LISNXA G KAY G2 G ]

Then how did these acts happen? They happened because | wanted some money.

Did | ever steal anything from Uncle Dennis? No, an emphatic no! The only reason | can give
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Or maybe it was because | had returned to his home the last time with noble purposes and

ambitions, and | carried them out to the end despite the injustice. In my later years, | have

never been able to conaen him as | normally would someone else.

Yes, Nannie, | did steal from you! | never could quite decide whether | got away with something
or whether you intended for me to do what | did. | have good reason to believe that you
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certainly intended to givehte opportunity to me, because you made it so easy. It was during

one of my earlier brief stays at your home, the time Uncle Dennis told me to scram. Before

leaving, | spent the night, but | was too timid to come down to breakfast. This is the one time

Aunt Sarah let me down. | was too timid to barge in and | was sure Aunt Sarah would call me to
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normal self.
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being invited. Everyone went to dinner, and | was sure Aunt Sarah would notice that my chair

was empty. | waited for her call, but it never came. | was sitting on the roof of the second

floor, in the shade of theave overhang. | watched as Nannie dame to her room, did

something, and left. | noticed that her coin container lay most conveniently on the dresser. |
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were so cheap that | figured they were all | could eat. They were. | think | could not quite finish
them.

Once, when Mother and | came to Raiford on than, she lost her ticket. The conductor on
the train was a man named Frederick. He had known Mother before my father died. He often
came to our house at Lake Butler, where Mother would serve him oyster stew.

When she told him she had lost her ticket KS alF ARX daaNBAR® | SYRNAO] &z

Mother had her purse out and offered him the money. But he said she had already bought one
ticket, and he refused to take her money a second time.

This gave me the impression that if | got on thertri@r Lake Butler and only had a dime they
would not stop the train to throw me off. The conductor accepted the dime as full fare. So
Nannie, the two dimes | stole from you went for some soda crackers and a train ride to Lake
Butler!

| was still livingat the Cason boarding house when | decided | wanted to go to Leesburg. School
was out then. From Leesburg, | planned on taking a train to Umatilla. As | had mentioned
before, Mrs. Cason had opened a little grocery store in the small building adjti@ing

boarding house. It was not too long until train time, and | wanted to catch the train that day. |
went by the store and asked Mr. Cason if he would lend me $5.00. | would send him a box of
oranges when | got to work. | had done this for Mrs. Castime or two, but for some reason

she was not available at the time.

Mr. Cason refused my proposition. | tried to persuade him, but he stuck to his guns. | never
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help Loca Lee in business college. Her mother put her through. After he had refused my
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proposal, Mr. Cason walked out in front of the store and began talking with three men sitting
on a bench. While they were talking, | walked into the store, openeddlsé drawer, and took
out five dollars in change.

| walked past Mr. Cason and the men, an went over to the Whidden store. There, | asked Uncle
Jack Farrell if he could lend me some money to get to Leesburg so | could go to work. He asked
me how much heeded. | told him five dollars.
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He agreed and gave me the money.

| would like to pay my respects, and express my affections, to Uncle Jackorhked at the

Cason place. He was not related to me. Outside of Aunt Sarah, Nannie, and possibly one or
two others, Uncle Jack had more class and refinement than all the rest of the people of Raiford
put together. He as a rather handsome, stout man.dressed well and played the better class

of music on the piano. He, therefore, was not appreciated by many. He was kind and pleasant.
He clerked ion the Whidden store until it went out of business. | always thought he should be
living in a large townMy last inquiry about him revealed that he was living in a small hut in the
country and drawing a pension. | ask God to bless him.

| returned to the Cason store after getting the five dollars from Uncle Jack to give Mr. Cason his
back. | wanted to kiim. He was always picking at me. But this turned out to be something
other than a kidding matter. Mr. Cason had discovered the loss and was in a rage. This is one
case where, if | had been charged and punished, it would have been an injustice bledalise

not intend to take the money. It should have been obvious to anyone with a grain of brains. |
told him | only intended to pull a joke on him. He practically called me a thief and finally
threatened to call the marshal.

| told him he ought to kne that | would not walk into his store and take any money with that
many witnesses. | said if I had intended to take the money, | would not have come straight
back go him. | showed him the five dollars | had gotten from Uncle Jack and said this shows |
have the money to make the trip. | knew Uncle Jack would let me have it, as he had before, but
| hated to keep asking him.
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money too well and | took this ag@ke. If | had to walk to Leesburg, | would have not taken
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Mr. Cason growled something about leaving his money along, and | left and took the train.

My last attempt at a shameful act was, thank God, @myattempt. | reached Umatilla and got
room and board at the Collins rooming house. But | could not get work. | owed her, and she
was patient for her money. But | was impatient about it. The youngsters of the town hung
around the drug store. | wadn there with a group of them and noticed there was a hole in
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the door. | could see the lock had been moved in some manner. After inspecting it quite
closely, | got a piece of twin and tied it to the lock handle so it would unlock the door when the
hande was pulled down. Then I ran the twin outside where Al could reach it. This was
accomplished with a quite a few boys standing around. For the moment, it made it easier
because there were several.

| waited until the store closed and left with the boyBut | returned a short while later and
pulled on the string. The door opened so easily it frightened me. | also knew that the town
doctor often came to the store after hours. | left and went around the block to size up the
situation. Suddenly | hedra car which pulled up to the drug store. | immediately returned to
the boarding house, thanking the Lord | had not gone inside the store. If | had, | would have
been caught! Often youngsters stand on the brink of being either an upstanding citicbrasu

| consider myself, or a convict. | believe that only God saved me from the latter prospect.
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there and did some of the most intense and mature thigkirhad ever done up to that time. |
reflected on how well | had done at Raiford the past two years. In spite of heavy odds, | had
passed the seventh and eighth grades. | had worked hard for Uncle Dennis, only to suddenly
find myself on the streets witho place to turn!

As far as | could see, both good purpose and ambitions became an impossibility. Then, quickly
people whom | had never known were aware of my existence, and they sprang to my aid. They
gave me a home, better health, and warmer friengisthan | had experienced with my own

kin. I had accomplished all | could expect, except for one thing. | had exercised no control over
my morals, even though there were few who doubted that | had also done that. | thought of

the things | wanted to dol wanted to get an education and | wanted to be respected. |

wanted to be elected to public office as much for the purpose of approbation as for the
compensation or chance to serve people.

All the good things that happened to me, and then | had to cadntimeise foul deeds! (Up to

this point, | have used the raw, naked terms to describe my acts. | shall, hereafter, use milder
terms in referring to them. | used the unabated terms so that when | refer to others in an
uncomplimentary manner, they cannotaain | have been unfair to them and easy on myself). |
loathed myself! For the first time, | looked at myself like others would have looked at me had
they known. | looked at myself as | would look at others who did such evil things. | thought of
my souland pitied one so sorry. | thought of Raiford and knew that | had proven my abilities. |
thought of the wrongs | had done there, and | saw myself as a revolting character.

| thought of the help and success | had there, and | detested myself for tept@T. |

thought of myself as another person and | could find nothing extenuating about the acts. |
condemned such a person. He was a deception and a fraud in spite of his determination and
abilities and apparent success. He had no regard for frieftds can only be a sorry character.

He seeks to fulfill good purposes and great ambitions and he commits the very deeds which will
stand between him and any real accomplishment. He had achieved his goal with decggption
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deception he could not endureRather than suffer some privation, he was willing to commit
wrongs. | detest that sort of person and would have nothing to do with him. Suddenly, it
seemed to me that | was going through the fire and emerging with a realistic recognition of
myself. Athat moment, | decided that with the help of the Heavenly Father, | would not live
with such a person.

Suddenly, | got down on my knees and prayed to God for help. | asked Him to free me from
such company and to forgive me for the wrongs | had committ€den | offered Him my

resolves if He would help me. | vowed never to commit such deeds again (which | have not

with His help), and | asked him to assist me in all | do, so | may accomplish my best. | knew all
men were sinners, but | asked for the helipthe Holy Spirit. | asked for guidance and

assistance. | said if | could prove my self worthy, would He help me to carry out my high
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condition, but | asked Hito help me find work. | did not ask for any particular place or specify
any conditions about school, but | told Him | wanted to go to school and to make myself more
capable.

| prayed with all the knowledge and sincerity | knew about praying. | suppess the only

real prayer | had ever offered until that time, even though | had confessed my faith and had
been baptized into the church. | finished the prayer as best | could and got back on the bed to
sleep. But I found I still had a bit of thinkirgdo. At this point | offer my only excuse for
stealingg a psychological reaction against Uncle Dennis for the shabby way he had treated me.
The fact that | thought so much of him makes this more certain.

As | lay there, | thought it rather remarkaliteat a little over two years ago, | was in the fourth
grade. Now | was ready to enter the ninth grade. | knew that | had missed some of my
foundation work, and that it would require extremely difficult study to get by in the ninth
grade. But | had doniétwice, and | would keep trying to do it. | had no work, and it seemed
no one in this small town had any jobs to offer.

Where would | go to school? Surely | could not expect to get the help in the future | had
received in the last two years. Andduld not earn enough money in the summer to see me
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up her grove and finished all the work | could, but | was not paying my way. | promised myself |
would cortinue to do my best until school time, and perhaps God would help me arrange
everything.
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aware thatthe arrangements | had been hoping for had already ripened for some days, and
that | would soon hear about them.



46

After helping Mother Collins with a few jobs the next morning, | told her | was going job seeking

again. It may have been the first placgdnt after leaving her house that the man in charge
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work there was. | got two days work, and | experienced the joy of stretching my muscles again.
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Farrell or whether | gave it to Mother Collins. Anyhow, | made good use of it!

Details of events that occurred over forty years ago are difficult to remember, especially in

relation to time. But what generally happened during that time is what is important. Mrs.

Hunter, the next door neighbor to Mother Collins, had once asked me if | would like to attend
Montverde School. It was a private school located a few miles awlagkie County. | had seen

students put on a show at the local theatre, and | was impressed with the explanation they
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student was required to work out half the esmpses of his schooling, and to provide the other

half in cash. Sometimes, in special cases, they would let students work out more than half the

cost. They had dormitories and a dining hall. Here, | decided, | would have a home, if | could
arrange to beadmitted.

| told Mrs. Hunter | would like to attend the school. She said she would try to make
arrangements for me. | froze when she told me what she had in mind. She was going to have a
talk with my Uncle Ransom Andrews, who owned groves in Umalhea. said she knew he

would be able to help me. She talked with him and became quite angered in the process. He
told her there was no use to spend money on me for an education. | would never get

anywhere, he said.

| was not disappointed, because | egpe such an answer from him. Not that Uncle Rance
knew or cared anything about my abilities. It all boiled down to the fact that my name was
Hendricks and not Andrews. The Andrews family was clannish, and I, therefore, was not a
member of that family.It would have been different if there had been trouble. If someone had
given me a beating, the whole Andrews clan would have gone on the war path!

Once more, perhaps foolishly, | decided to approach the man | was attempting to emulate. |

went to see Unke Dennis in his home for the first time in two years. | had dinner with him.

After the meal, he asked me to join him in his bedroom. Sitting before the fireplace, | told him

all about the school and asked him if he could help me. He asked me howitrmatiid take.
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in his chair. Soon he as nodding as an indication he was preparing to drop off to sleep, and |
silently slipped from the room. Mrs. Hunteadh failed with one uncle and | with another.

A few days later, Mrs. Hunter sent for me. She told me she had been talking with her son, Jess,
and had told him about trying to help me enter Montverde. He told her to tell me to go on to
the school and dolathe work | could. He promised to help me from the financial end.
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She told me to just stop asking questions and to write Mr. H.P. Carpenter, the president of
Montverde, telling him | wanted to go to schabkere. She advised me to note that her son
told me to write him.

After writing Mr. Carpenter, | received a reply from him a few days later. He wrote me that he
had talked to Jess Hunter, and that he would be in Umatilla on a certain date and would come
to see me. He came and we talked at great lengths about the school. He told me what would
be expected of me as a student and the benefits | could expect. He said | was to work as much
as | could, and that Jess would help me. | understood it was o ls@ap, but | considered it a
home. | returned with Mr. Carpenter. | have always believed that God helped me here. |
offered Him my thanks and have continued to thank him ever since.

The Montverde School (now known as Montverde Academy) was a realnafiter to me in

the true sense of the word. The work there might have seemed hard to some of the boy and
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early. Getting up at six in the morning was no differgom the farm, where had to milk, feed

the livestock, eat breakfast, and be ready to go to work by daylight. The school had its own
farm, where students raised all the vegetables needed in the dining hall. It also had a dairy.
Hogs and chickens weraised. The students tried to make the school ass&dtaining as

possible. There were over 200 boys and girls enrolled from every walk of life. There were some
from rich homes and some from broken homes. Many wealthy parents sent their children to
school to each them to work. The school did not teach trades. The main point stressed was for
students to learn how to use their hands. They also learned they could not tell the rich

students from the poor ones.

Wealth had no bearing at the school. Students of wealthy parents had to work two and a half

hours each day. This struck me as being extremely democratic. | could begin to see and feel

the real worth of the school. For the first time, | was thrown ia thidst of 200 boys and girls,
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where their rightsg and mine¢ began and ended. | considered this as typical of the situation |

would face in the future. | Brned | just live, disagree, agree, maintain my position, concede,

consider, and judge. Also, | saw the need for arriving at conclusions, helping others, asking for

help, and trying to see the group as one and one as a group in the true sense. In ottsy w

every student must be considered part of the whole.

There were those whom | liked, those whom | disliked. One of my hardest lessons was to learn
to accept the one | did not like as part of the whole instead of ostracizing him as | had in the
past | could not pick only those I liked and live with them. From time to time, | must live with
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and respect those | did not like. In recognizing this, | considered | had taken a giant stride
toward maturity, fairness, and justice.

It took a few hard lesmns for me to teach others of the student body the same. At the same
time, | learned a great deal while | was teaching. Boys of high school age are normally
pugnacious, and more so when they can get other fellows involved and remain in the
background as spectator. That kind of fighting most boys like. However, there were other
classes, one more rare than the other. The rare class was composed of the ones who liked to
fight because they enjoyed the mixing it up with their fists. The more commonwtassthose
who preferred not to fight but who would, upon being pushed to the brink, give it everything
they had. This group could usually get across the point to others that it would be best to be
friendly toward them rather than wearing a black eyeflattened nose as a symbol of an
unpleasant encounter.

It would become necessary for a boy, on occasion, to teach others that although he may look
the part of a hick, he was equipped with muscles and knew how to use them to good
advantage. This tended taake most boys prefer to be buddies with him rather than be one of
his victims. After showing others he was not afraid to fight, this individual could then begin to
get along with all the boys, and they would start respecting whatever good qualitieache h
Sometimes boys of this type would begin exerting qualities of leadership and would reach a
point of accepted popularity in time.

At Montverde, | found myself a victim of the most cruel of all student body traits as a timid and
sensitive boy. Immedialy, | found myself among a selective group. The students there were
selected because of their good qualities and for those which could be developed. Since | was
behind with my schooling, | was ashamed to find some of my classes were two years yopunger
and even younger than that in some cases. Yet despite the difference in ages, they were my
equals in the class room. This caused me to be timid and to experience a feeling of inferiority.
And this was the opening nearly all the boys tried to exploit.

| found their exploiting much to my disliking. | was probably over sensitive. When something
happened, | would resent it. This turned out to be a signal for everyone to join in further
incensing me. My psychology in resenting them was just the oppokitdat it should have
been. It helped to aggravate the situation from both their position and mine.

| had never before found myself so confined with large groups, night and day, as | did at
Montverde. | had never been forced to defend myself or comepeio get along with such
numbers of whether | liked them or not. The combination of my timidity and the requirement
of having to remain with those | disliked caused me to feel that each of them had decided to
become my tormentor. | reached the pointe§uently, where | was b out ready to give up my
desire for an education and to give up my ambitions and all that | looked forward to, rather
than continue suffering the continuous nagging and needling. | had never been forced to fight
in order to rid myslf of this sort of unpleasantness. Naturally, | showed no sign of an offensive
attitude. | exhibited only resentment and tried to avoid as much of it as possible.
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This attitude must have made me appear a coward to most of the boys. It never occurred to
me to clobber a few of them instead of talking so much. It certainly never dawned on me to be
afraid of them, at least at first. Later | realized | was leaving an impression of unwillingness to
meet any of them in physical encounter. Even though gskiany, | could amaze myself and
others at times with my physical strength and quickness. | was accustomed to hard work.

Concerning my strength, | recall a meeting | had with two of my brothers and a biiothes.

The three of them were eternally tuésg and picking at each other. On this particular

occasion, one of my brothers started pushing me around. | was not grown then, and he
assumed | would be a pushover because of my size. Suddenly, he grabbed me. | threw him to
the ground and stayed orop of him. When | got up, | acted very nonchalant and the other
brother decided he should take me down a notch. He found me quicker than he was. | also had
more strength. | had him pinned down fairly soon. Again | dusted myself off and acted
somewhatlike a young rooster. | cut an eye toward my brotirefaw. He made some remark
about me feeling my oats.

Being the biggest of the four of us, he went into action seemingly with the intention of showing
us what a man can do. By then, | was tired aitife was taking advantage of this. That made
me a bit mad and wary at the same time. | had to duck in and out until | could tire him out a
little. Since he was older, | could expect to tire him some. But suddenly, he closed in on me.
His weight gavene a hard time. On the other hand, my swiftness and determination extracted
me from his grasp a couple of times. But he followed up ad kept attacking me. | decided my
only hope for success was to surprise him. | watched for the proper opening aredfaisn
around the waist from behind. With all my strength, I lifted him from the ground, threw him
backward and pounced upon him. We tore up half an acre of yard, but he never could get out
from under me.

Remembering this success gave me an idea wiachme acting as the cat which swallowed

the canary. It had become obvious to me that | was failing to match wits with my fellow

students. | decided | would have to tangle with some of them physically. | knew | would be
encountering any one of the theetypes: the one who did not want to fight, the one who
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to fight and who would neatly lead someone else into the trap as an offender so he could get a

fight.

| et no time limit for my first flight. The opportunity, however, presented itself quite promptly.
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might explain, came by his nickname because of his reluctance to bathe. At a distance of about

five feet, he gave the impressidre had forgotten to bathe. However, direct hints and even

ridicule by the other boys did not impress him enough to force him into a compromising

position with soap and water.
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Before | had finished the sentence, he had called me a liar again. | promptly hit him alongside
the head, and he let me have one right back. | had no intentions of fighting a Deffipsey

type of fight ad wind up with mydad bent in. And | had no intentions of relying on fighting
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and we tied up.
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There were no punches thrown for the moment. The boys began witnessing one of the

strangest fights they had ever seen. When they heard the rumpus, they began gathering for

the show in numbers. For a few seconds, | was almost reaclyrncede that my strategy was
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everything instintive to get to the floor. The boys were having a good time out of this show,
and nothing short of my brains running down the door would have concerned them.
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time to straighten up. | wrapped both arms around the middle and slammed up to one side.

He hit the floor flat on his back, and | quickly jumped on top of him, with my arms around his
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same manner he had me only moments before. By this time, btang blood¢ was smeared

all over my face and shirt and his shirt. Blood was still running from my nose.
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three or four times. This must have been a curious sight for the boys. They had seen the blood

and it was no longer a laughing matter. | enjoyed some degree of satisfaction out of their
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attempt to get up. | stood over him to see if he wanted to carry this affair any further. He was
actualy pale and acted as though he might faint. | watched until he began to show some

interest in getting up.
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fight seemed to put a slight quieting effect on all the boys, but they were not ready to make like

they were my friends.

My next fight was a bit more serious. | came from it with only marks of the fight, but | was not
coward. My roommate hardly ev finished his work in time to get a bath and dinner before

study hall began. Study hall was a period from 7:15 to 9:15 each evening in which each student
had to do his homework. When the period was over, a whistle was blown to indicate it was

only 15 nminutes until all lights had to be turned out. The students could use this time to get
ready for bed or to visit.

My roommate, Bob Wynn, and | were sitting at the same table in our room this night, studying.
As usual, Bob had not had time to get cleangdoefore study hall began. Consequently, he

still was wearing his boots which smelled strongly of the cattle pens. | was leaning forward over
a book and Bob was leaning back in his chair, with his feet propped on the table. This was
crude, of courseBut worse still, | had to smell those boots while trying to study. | told him his
boots smelled and asked him to move them out of my face. He made no response. | tolerated
it for a little while and then | asked him again. He read on without showingigng of having

heard me.

His boots were actually within a foot and a half of my face. | could have called the monitor on

the floor and had him tell Bob to take his boots off the table. This could have eliminated any

change of a fight, but | never gaiteany thought. With all he difficulties | had with the

students, | never ran to the faculty about anything. | was determined to handle these matters
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over backwards, and when he hit the floor, it sounded like a thunder clap in the still quiet of

study hall. | waited for Bob to get up and get up he did. With the skill of a professional fighter,

he closed my left eye and raised a goose egg undernegti ik G K | aAy 3t S Lidzy OK®
KAY | OKIyOS (42 GKNRg Fy20KSNE a4 L AYYSRAIGS
try to tie him up, because it seemed quite evident | would never be able to reach him. | would

be a bloody pulp if | trié that.

But | knew | could not take the easy ones and let the tough ones go. If | tried that, my whole

plan of salvation would fail. | just have some satisfaction, | told myself. Meanwhile, the gang of
boys had gathered. | turned and ducked througarthand ran into the next room where a-10

inch dagger hung in its scabbard on the wall. | grabbed it at what seemed like the same

moment that several of the boys grabbed me. They tugged while I held to the handle and drew

the dagger. | headed for Bob ahd saw me coming. | will never know what would have
KFLIJISYSR AF GKS 062ea KIFERyYyQU NBaldNIAYSR dza® !
would make me reluctant to meet anyone in that stage. | was crying. A number of the boys
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wrung the knife fom my hands. As they released me, | headed toward Bob. The boys jumped
between us again, two or three of them for each of us. They held us until we cooled off.

L G6AAGSR | ydzYoSNI 2F (FAfa RdzZNAYy3I Y&®BE8AE Y2y
was the most impressive whipping | took. Instead of the usual procedure of cheering us on, the
boys, in this case, did all they could to keep us apart. | am sure | was entitled to the feeling of
GAOG2NE Ay RSTSIOo® ¢ IRy $o fight aRdSseEmédanipiessqd Withdhe 2 . 2
effort I had made to get back at him. The word filtered around. Bob was the toughest hombre

in school, and | had not backed away from him. He also came near to being expelled for this

fight and past performance while | only received a light penalty. | knew that it was because of

this fray with Bob that it was possible for me to back down others without a fight. The

remainder of my fights were simple in comparison. In one, | chased one of the more popular

huskier boys backward off a wagon bed while the vehicle was in motion. | had to call some
0228aQ KIyRa | O2dzLX S 2F G4AYSasz yR 2yS G42YS
the dormitory.
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reputation of being a fighter and tough. | had heard of the reputation, and the younger boy

was quite rugged and tough looking. He evidently had not been convinced, as had most of the

other boys, that it was not besbtdeliberately nag at me. He was always doing something

annoying. | am sure | asked him, no less than a half dozen times, to quite pestering me. |
threatened him just about as many times, too.

We were hauling corn from the field and cutting it intagi for the cows. He and | were sent

into the silo to stomp the silage which was being blown into the structure by a machine on the
ground. It was very hot. This pest had crawled up into one of the windows and was resting as |
made a circle past him. e-tleliberately threw a handful of the silage down the back of my shirt.
This was most irritating in the hot weather. | started to grab him by the feet and drag him
down, but | stopped short. | told him there was no use asking him to quit pesteringeme.

invited him to meet me that night in front of the dormitory.

1 62dzi0 GKNBS 2F F2dzNJ G6AYSa GKFEG FFaGSNyYy22y> L N
going to soften that hard head of his.

On the final reminder late in the afternoon, whenweS NB LJ NI Ay 33 KS al ARX ¢
YS ft2ySo L Y y24 32Ay3 (2 YSSi @&2dz G2y A3IKID

| razzed him about being chicken, and told him if he ever pestered me again, | would take down
on the spot, even if we were in churche Hever bothered me again.

The president of the school, Mr. Carpenter, had a favorite (whom | shall not name) who was in
the position of head monitor. He was almost considered a member of the faculty. He hit e once
with a green corn stalk. It stung rahseverely. We were in the field, and | walloped him right
back. He fell to the ground and all his neatness and dignity went rolling in the muck. He
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The school year ended, and | passed my freshman work. | guess it was because it was because |
was afraid that | did so well. | knew of my poor foundation and redlizead to work to make

my grades. As aresult, | did not have to take many final examinations because the school
SESYLIWSR (K2a$8 FTNRY (Saia 6K2 KIFEIR YIFIAYdlAYySR
summer semester, and when school opened in thel faths more advanced than just being a
sophomore. It felt good to be an upper classman.

During my freshman year, | had taught several boys not to underestimate a skinny country boy
and for them to have some respect for his sensitivities. | had learoedid live with large

groups and how to respect them. At the same time, | became a better judge of the individual

and learned not to judge the crowd by the pest but to appraise each individual on his own

merits. | also learned much about being too samsiand how to take much o the nagging and
kidding without showing resentment. | had actually gotten to the point where | could

LI NOAOALI GS Ay FTOUAGAGASE 6AGK 20KSNAR FyR (2
became a happgo-lucky charater.

When school opened the following September, | commanded more respect for newcomers
because | was a sophomore and they were only freshmen. Also, | was considered an oldtimer
at the school while they were still learning their way around. In my segead | began to

acquire some degree of popularity. |1 was a member of the Philomathean Society and
considered one of its best debaters. | was selected with John Butler to debate the Athenians in
the final debates, and we won. These literary societlss aompeted in a track meet each

year. Not wanting to be left out, | began to practice cross country and distance running.

Professor Walter entered our team in a meet at the University of Florida. Everyone conceded

that Arthur Erwin would take first pte in the tryouts, but second and third places were up for

grabs. At this time, a tall, lanky, popular student named Quinn Parker noticed my diligent

practice and promptly set out to coach me. His first order was to work hard at practice and to

eat no sveets. He instructed me how to breath and watched me carefully. He was a senior. |
appreciated his attention and instruction. He later told me that he wanted me to beat Arthur

Erwin. | was astonished. | was just hoping to come in second or thiedidddn of beating

I NI KdzZNE GKS FradSad NHzyySNI Ay az2yiSOSNRSQa KA
that Monteverde at this time had one of the highest ratings in athletics of any high school in the
State.

The day approached for the team tyts. The day before we were to run four laps around the
quarter mile track, Quinn made me rest. He told me that when the starting gun fired, | should
not start off fast. | should remain behind and do my breathing exercises for the first lap. For
the s=cond lap, | should pull up about even with the other runners and move into the lead
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during the third lap. For the final lap, he said | should finish at full speed and pay no attention
to the lead | had on the other runners.

The race began, and | folloRe v dzA Y Y Q& A Y a (i NHzZOOGA 2y a® L G221 @
were in the fourth lap when Arthur made his move to overtake me. He turned on the steam

and seemed to think it would be easy to pass me. But he started too late. Coming into the

home stetch, | gave it all | had and finished at full speed. After crossing the finish line, the
momentum | had built up kept me running until | feel in the arms of three of the boys. They

kept me moving for the good of my legs and breathing. The studentsetiead

congratulated me. | had thrown the old veteran for a loss. It was just as well, as Arthur would

soon be graduating and the school was in need of a fast distance runner. Quinn was proud and

so was |. Arthur later admitted my strategy, or rathedzA Yy Qa > KI R 6SFGSy KAY

At another meet, the Athenian runner tried the same strategy on me that | had used to beat
Arthur. But | sensed what he was trying to do, and | was able to use it to advantage in winning
the race. My abilities in track obviousiglped my popularity grow with students and faculty
during the year.

It had grown so much that Mrs. Carpenter, the school administrator, advised me that | would
be able to graduate in three years by attending school during the summer. This would enable
me to become a senior. Mrs. Carpenter told me she would forbid me accepting more than two
elective offices and that | could participate in very little extra curricular activities. She knew |
had a hard year ahead of me. | was elected president of thistizim Endeavor Society and
president of the Philomathean Literary Society. During my seniorqaéich | enjoyed very
muchc¢ John Butler and | won the debates.

Did | mature at Montverde? Most definitely. | had grown from a lone, timid, sensiteigh
character to a young man with a better sense of values and a richly improved ability to live with
and enjoy my fellow man. | had grown greaglghysically, morally, and spirituagpwhich was
partially due to the fine example set by the Carpestahe founders of the school, other

members of the faculty, and the association with students. | had attained a greater sense of
honesty and fairness and had matured in spiritual insight. | achieved popularity part of which |
literally had to fight for. This popularity was reflected in my behalf in years to come.

My dreams and ambitions had become broader, brighter, and closer to becoming realities than
before | went to Montverde. All | can say is God bless Mrs. Hunter, Jess Hunter, Mother Collins,
Mr. and Mrs. Carpenter, the school faculty, and my fellow students for their part in making it
possible for me to grow at Montverde. The school was an alma mater in the true sense of the
word. God bless the Montverde Academy in future years. May it searkind and God as it

did in the days when | was a student there.

| graduated from Montverde in June, 1925. | had some obligations which | did not want to ask
Jess Hunter to assume. | had no plans to enter college that fall, primarily because | was not
financially able. So | decided to work at Montverde until | had p# all my debts. | paid off



55

those debts in rather quick order and then began noticing there was a great boom in the sale of
land. | knew several graduates of the school who were making good money buying and selling
land. | consulted Mr. Carpentema he told me he knew of no reason why | could not do as

well. 1 do not recall if a real estate certificate or license was required at the time. If they were, |
ignored the requirements.

For the first time in almost four years, | severed relations Wtintverde and set out into the

big business world to sell real estate. The difference between the Joseph E. Hendricks who

entered Montverde and the one who emerged could be detected without much difficulty. 1

went to Dicksorves Store and bought a susiaying part of the price and promising to pay the
remainder later on. | made arrangements with the owner of the store, Mr. Harry Dixon. |

f SFNYSR AlG ¢l a 3Sad G2 aSS (GKS GoA3d Yryé Ay
accomplishment to have digssed this business matter with him. | can look back now and

recognize this as a step forward in my development maturing.

Mr. Dixon agreed to let me have the suit. But | was not able to make the money to pay the
oFftlyOS L 2¢SR 20y FXNH SUdZAGKSE RS2i0 @ RA Ry&3a dzY SR
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paid it. 1 met Mr. Dixon on the street in Orlando.
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| asked him what he was talking about. He told me he was amazed to receive a check from me

to finish paying for the suit. He said he had no recollection of the debt. He even checked his

books and, on first inspectiofpund no such overdue account. Mr. Dixon said he was about

NBI Reé G2 NBldaNYy GKS OKSOl G2 YS ¢4KSy KS F2dzyR
paid the bill, he would never have known the difference. | replied that | would have always

known the difference.

After acquiring the suit, | went out to make money in the real estate business so | could
continue my education. The real estate business was fantastic at that time. Sometimes a piece
of property would change hands six to eight times withtransfer of title. A simple note was
written by the owner stating he had sold the property to a buyer for a stated sum. The buyer
would give the seller a cash down payment on the spot, and the seller would use the money to
buy more land. The buyemeanwhile, would sell the land to another person. Both the seller

and buyer would realize a profit from the transactions.

| made my first purchase by buying 40 acres. | had persuaded my stepfather to join in the

venture with me. We would make lots ofamey, | told him. That evening, everything was

going well, so it seemed. But by the next morning, when | went out looking for prospects, |

could not give the land away. So | tore up the simple transaction and the property reverted to

the owner. Inevet Y S¢é KAA& VY| YS® CKI Qa4 K2g ljdzAiOlte vYe
bubble burst, Dad wanted his deposit back and | gave it to him.
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A business depression set in. There was no work to be found anywhere. | had hoped to enter
Stetson University thaall, but possibilities of my doing that looked mighty bleak at the time. |

had hopes, though. It was till about six months before the fall term began. | had a feeling that,
gA0K D2RQa KSfLlE (GKSNB Ydad 6S | ¢gFé& F2N YS

| wanted to atend Stetson for two reasons: First, it was thought of as a Baptist University, and

| was a Baptist. The college was once affiliated with the University of Chicago. It had graduated
a string of prominent lawyers, politicians, educators, and preach&he second reason was

that the brother of the president of Montverde had assisted me in getting a job at a chain
grocery store.

With this job and the loan of $75 from a man | had not known long, | entered Stetson in
September 1926. Itis amazing how elasdividuals can come to missing an opportunity and,
therefore, destroying the possibility of their achieving their ambitions. It almost happened to
YSo 2 KSy L GKAYy]l o0FO1 G2 Adz L AKAGSNI F2NJ L
terrible blunder.

It took place during my senior year at Montverde, about the last month of school. The annual
d0K22f LIAOYAOZ f0K2dzZAK AG gl ayQid 2FFAOAILT &
of the senior class. On this day, the seniors ustiadly some liberties, such as leaving the

crowd¢ as long as they were in groupsnd strolling through the beautiful oak grove on Lake
Apopka. Of course, almost everyone had their cameras, as it was the last joint informal
celebration and the last chardo get informal pictures before graduation. As | recall, the next

two affairs were the juniossenior banquet and the alumni banquet, both of which were formal.

As a senior, | joined the others to take some pictures. The pictures were quite infounal, b
nothing vulgar. Perhaps they could be described in the lolmey class. There were some
Ll2asSa gAGK GKS 02@a KIFI@GAyYy3a GKSANI I N¥ya | NRdz/R
a very modest kiss and some silly antics. The school had atastagainst such deportment

which has proven to be extremely wise. In spite of the strict rules and discipline, there were a
few midnight forays by a pair now and then. They would sneak out of their dormitories and

hold rendezvous somewhere near the gaus. There were many places which would lend
themselves to romance. The shores of Lake Florence were only 300 feet from the campus. No
faculty, no matter how hard it tries, can hope to enforce every rule without some violations. If

it were possible, itvould have been done at Montverde because the teachers and student
monitors were diligent about watching for infractions. The disciplinary action taken against
violators was severe.

| am not aware how the faculty learned about the pictures. | presumegybstmistress assisted
when she noticed so many films coming and going through the post office. Of course, someone
had to see some of the photos and start talking. However it was discovered, Mr. Carpenter
announced one day that all seniors must turreotheir pictures to him. My pictures had been
taken by someone else, and they were turned in without my ever having seen them. Mr.
Carpenter called all the other seniors before he summoned me. | had heard he was rather
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angry and threatened to expel s@ of the offenders. But up until the time | appeared before
him, he had only handed out some harsh penalties.

L 1yS% aNX® /INLSYGISNI KFR I KAIK NBIFNR F2N YS
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they had done a good job of imitation. | thoroughly expected to be reprimanded, primarily

because | was with the others. Also, | had taken no action to stop them. | was anticipating a

light penalty andsurely nothing as severe as happened.

L SYGSNBR aNX¥ /I NLISYyiSNnRa 2FFAO0S FyR aLkRi1S 2
a snapshot and passed it to me.
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He replied that he thought the school had one student with some sense, leadership, and
morals. | asked him what was wrong with the picture.
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The snapshot was of lmCarter and me, seated. | had both of my hands on my left knee, and
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At this point, | felt | was being intimidated somewhat, and | did not appreciate it. | replied
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Mr. Carpenter obviously interpreted my reply as being too brazen. He arose from his chair and
headed toward the door.

As he opened the door, he declargd, 2 dzNJ LISy | f (&
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After leaving his office, | called some friends in Eustis to camdeget me. But my friends

GSNByQlu 4 K2YSo L £tSTa I YSaal3asS F2N 4KSY
dormitory and packed, preparing to leave. | then returned to the office to see if my friends had
returned the call.

As | came to theffice, Mrs. Carpenter met me and told me she was just coming over to look
YS dzLi® GL ¢l yaGSR G2 dFrft]1 6AGK @2dz I F¥S6 YAydz
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At that point, | did interrupt taell her | did not believe | had done anything wrong and did not

feel | deserved to be spoken to so harshly by her husband. He could have told me what my
penalty was and said no more. | would have thought any penalty would have been unjust, but |
would have taken it and said nothing more. 1 told her | thought Mr. Carpenter knew me well
enough by now to know that when he told me to accept the penalty or pack up and leave, |

would pack up and leave. | advised Mrs. Carpenter | had friends in Eustis with ivdould

stay for a few weeks. | said | planned on graduating from Eustis High School. 1 think these were
almost the last words | was able to mutter until much later.

G,2dz OFyQi GNIYYyaATFSNI (2 9dzadAa |1 A3 [AOKRR2ME  ACA
they would not accept you this late, and secondly, you do not have sufficient credits. We
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taken here. You are within three weeks of graduatiohre& weeks from now, you will have
graduated from Montverde and have your diploma. But if you leave now, it will be at least
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advanced as far as you have if Mr. Hunted Imat helped you. | know you have worked hard,
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Mr. Carpenter will be disappointed if you do. He is already sorry to hear what you plan to do. |

am disappointed, and | am surkedt other members of the faculty will be disappointed. If Mr.
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| could hardly have said anything at this point, even if she had given me the opportunity. But
AaKS RARY QO 3IAGS YS | OKFIyOS (2 a&aLlsl 1o
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where Mr. Carpenter is having coffee now, apologize, take your penalty, and graduate in three
weeks. Whatever your penalty might be, | would accept it and do what will be required. While
@2dzQNBE O2YLX @Ay3ad gAGK (GKS KSYyFEf Ga8SLE DEz2AKNW akp
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went straight to the kitchen. | was a bit chagrined, but | would have dreaded to reply to Mrs.
Carpenter with any other answer. Mr. Carpenteasasitting on a stool, sipping coffee.
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He strained, it seemed, not to show relief and gladneble appeared to fake it. |1 wished |
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course to pursue. Mr. Walker will tell yolie details of your penalty, and you can start on it
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In other words, he was not to suspend me for the penalty, but let me work it out after school.
This was a generous move in that it would let me keep up with my classrawkn Water in the
day, | saw Mr. Walker. He informed me that | was to cut and stack a strand of wood.

The next afternoon, | headed for the wood pile with a sharp axe amid considerable razzing from

my school mates. | had told everyone that | suggestggenalty, and that they would be

welcome to come out and watch me carry it out. | also told them | would show them how to

cut out the penalties they were bound to get now that was about to graduate and give up my
monopoly on the wood pile. | jokingly éeld that chopping wood was the way | developed my

muscle. | picked the wood which was the easiest to cut and, within an hour, had the strand cut

and stacked. Mr. Walker had to inspect my work. After looking it over, he gave me credit for

the work, but ommented that | had finished it too quickly. Some of the students apparently
KSINR KAa O2YYSyiGa o0SOlFdzaS:z o6& GKS S@SyAy3a YS

The wood was cut and the penalty completed. It still seemed a shame that the school ptesiden
would compel a senior to cut wood for the winter to get his diploma. But on the other hand, |
conceded it was well worth it when | stepped forward on graduation day and accepted the
diploma from Mr. Carpenter.

When | entered Stetson University in thalfof 1926, | roomed with Walter Harper. He and |
rented a small apartment and we cooked our own food. But | was back to fighting the same old
battle of finances again. Does a man have to be plagued with insufficient funds in everything
he does, | askemyself?

Because | had observed the fine work done by the faculty at Montverde, | was sure this work
gave one an opportunity to serve mankind. | thought | would like it, too. Therefore, | arranged
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my courses for an AB degree. Since | had finished at Montveid&ilNS S &SI NBRX L 41 a
had the required credits. The Stetson registrar, however, said | did have the sufficient number.

The University would not permit any student to graduate in less than four years, even though

he went to school during the sumriigb . S0FdzaS L O2d2RPQa FTFY¥YNBRSS
worst shortcoming< | lost another year. When | later returned to Stetson for an LLB degree, |
learned that | could have arranged my work in the four years so the credits could have applied

as elegives in law school. So | had to attend law school for three years, making a total of seven
years at Stetson.

To move ahead of my story somewhat, | accepted a position at Montverde after | graduated

from Stetson, Mr. Carpenter offered me the position @rhivas in effect acting vice president.

At one time, | had to reach the sciences after the regular teacher either resigned or was asked

to leave. | taught the courses for three weeks while a qualified teacher was being sought.

During that time, | decid® G S OKAy3 | yR L RARYQlU YAE OSNEB 4S5
me feel as though | was going to kill a few of them or they were going to kill me. Not being of a
murderous nature, | thought it best that | find a position or line of work for which my

temperament was better suited. | came to the conclusion that | should practice law, where |

would have a good referee when | felt in the killing mood!

After | decided to return to Stetson for a law degree, | was offered a job by the university of
touring the state in search of more students. We were not turning them away in those days,
but coaxing them in. | asked Mr. Carpenter for permission to resign. After we discussed it, he
said he would not stand in my way since the teaching profession waslaotadive one. That

was certainly true at Montverde. | have thought many times of how little the faculty was paid
there. What dedicated people the teachers were!

Returning to the proper order of my story, | was pleased with one thing when | enteresbte
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that when | looked over the student body. Here at Stetson, | decided, | could be a normal

student and have nothing to prove to the students or mfsdlhe students were mature and

adjusted. Therefore, it became only a matter of getting acquainted with them. | was timid then

and have been timid all my life. Some people who know me may recall that | have often

stepped forward and spoken up on ocaasiwhen it was necessary. And | did it in such a

manner as to cloak my timidity. After | get to know a person, | can shake off the timidity. But if

L Y G4KNRgY Ayld2z I ONRGRI L OlFlyy2Gd o6S I allAf

Therefore, at the university, this wasy biggest problem as | sought to become one among the
prominent. | worked hard at the physical labor | was compelled to do. | worked hard at my
books and worked hard at play. | could attend only some of the functions of the university
football or bagetball game now and then, an occasional play and a movie perhaps once a
week. My meetings with fellow students were usually at church services, chapel and my
classes. | never attended the real social functions for two reasons. | did not have the finer
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clothes to make a polished appearance, and the social affairs were mainly for fraternity
members. To attend those functions, invitations were required.

During my first year, | had no time for a fraternity as | was compelled to spend almost every
moment & work or study. | often dropped off to sleep from exhaustion while studying. It was
really too much for one of my physical stamina, but | realized there was no other way to remain
in school.

Before the first year ended, | managed to make some improvesie my arrangements for

living. In addition, Jess Hunter had promised to financially aid me again. | worked at

Montverde the first summer. | was able to save my money and buy a few badly need clothes. |
knew | would need them if | ever triedtoeMd G KS &aO0K22f Qad a2 0AlFf OA NDf

In my freshman year, | wished | could have received an invitation to join one of the fraternities.

Then | could have told them | would be happy to accept if they could hold it in abeyance until |

could work out some finandiarrangements. But | received no bids to join any of the
FNFGSNYAGASEAS YR AO0 Aa 2dzi 2F 2NRSNJ G2 Fai ¥
school opened for my second year. | particularly wanted to join one fraternity, and | was
bothered@ Y AaA RSN} 0f & 6KSY L RARYQUIQ NBOSAGS Iy Ayl
and practiced the manners she set forth so | would have no feeling of inferiority in that regard.

| had watched some of the upper crust commit social blunders, and tedda avoid that.

Since my manners were acceptable and my clothing was very similar to what fraternity men

GSNBE 6SINAYy3I>s L RSOARSR GKS 2yteé NBlFaz2y L KIR
did not know me.

Harboring this desire to join a pgacular fraternity, | had come to know all of its members, at
least by sight. Nearly all the football team was composed of members of that frat. In addition,
all the leaders of the campus were from that frat, or at least so it seemed to me. | wanted to
become a member of Pi Kappa Phi! The president of the student body belonged to it. And its
members always seemed to be friendlier and made better appearances than did members of
the other two fraternities. Since they did not know me, | had to makepitiat to let them

know me.

On every occasion possible, | would introduce e myself and engage the frat members in a
conversation. If I could do so without being too obvious, | would mention the fact that | noticed
they were Pi Kaps. | was on the traekrm and organized the crossuntry race team with the
permission of the coach.

Writing of crosscountry races makes me remember the time we were planning on competing
with the University of Florida team at the Volusia County Fair. | had already received
permission of the fair director and was explaining the situation to the track coach. He asked me
how far it was around the track. | told him it was a half mile.

& SpAGK2dzi GKAYl1AYy3a:Z KS |aA1SRxZ al 28 | N
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| was delighted to learn that Stanley Wagg of Palm Beach had joined our team. | immediately

made it a point to cultivate his friendship because he came from a prominent family and, most
importantly, he was a Pi Kap. We became gomhfls and | never missed a chance to get

acquainted with some of his friends. | was very concerned about a future bid, and became
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A few days later Stanley asked me if | vdocbme to the Pi Kap house that night. They were
KFE@Ay3a GKSANI NB3Idz I NJ YSSGAy3To L G2fR KAY L ¢
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being conglered for one. | wore my best clothes and most polished manners that evening.

On arriving at the house, Stanley immediately introduced me to Tom Smith. Even though | had
tried to meet him previously. | had no success. The meeting$rafeanity are secret, and

when the members filed upstairs for the session, Stanley asked me to stay downstairs for a
while. There may be some others coming in later, he said, and he wanted me to meet them. |
did meet two or three other fraternity membesrshortly there after. After the meeting, Stanley
came to me and asked if | would accept a bid to Pi Kap if it were offered. This is a standard
precaution always taken. In this manner, no invitation can ever be refused. | promptly told him
| would accet the bid, adding that | had hoped to join Pi Kapp Phi since | came to Stetson.
Stanley then pinned a pledge button on my lapel and congratulated me. The others gathered
around and gave me the same greeting. | assured them | would do my best tomeerit t
confidence.

| walked lightly and whistled loudly on my way home. | was so happy! Again | had deliberately

set out and worked hard to acquire what | wanted rather than let it come easily. | felt there

was good reason for belonging to a fraternity.i’. Oy 6S SAGKSNI I YI Yy SN
self, or it can be turned into a drinking and philandering club. A member can help improve it

and make it a real association of brothers. Membership in a fraternity gives a student the
advantage of havingthe  YS &2 O0AFf NI GAYy3a Fa 20KSNARAZ gKAES
other students if he uses his sense. It may give him his first boost toward leadership on the

campus. It also gives one a feeling of being a party of something worthwhile.

| was a pd. The fraternity in no way hindered my friendship with Aioaternity men. |1
g2dz Ry Qi KIF@S tSG AdGo L ¢lydiSR G2 o6S I LI NI
member, | was part of the whole. Previously, | had been cut off from some grospsdehts.

Some of my fondest memories of individuals are of my fraternity brothers. | have fond

memories of many others, but those of my brothers are the warmest. There are those in
fraternities who want their membership to set them up above othersppilg, | found very

little of that in Pi Kapp Phi.
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one member continued making a mistake and each time my bid was delayed. The manner in

which fraternity brothersapprove a pledge is by secret ballot. They pass a small box,

containing white balls and black balls, around during an official meeting. Each member
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other. The vote on a pledge must be unanimayall white balls. If there is only one black ball

Ay GKS o02E | FGUGSNI GKS @208 A& GF1SyzZ GKS LINRA&LJ
again for some time.

| had been recommended three times previguak a pledge and had been eliminated from
consideration each time by one black ball in the box, | later learned. There had been only one

vote against me each time, and | had been so anxious to get a bid. | am one of those who firmly
believe that God had hand in such matters, for some good we cannot understand. One the
GKANR GoflF Ol oFlfftAy3aé L NBOSAQGSR: {darytSe 21 3
NBEO23ayAlA2Y YR LRAYUSR 2dzi 0KIGd L KIFIR 0SSy a
vote.
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would like to know if the same person is dropping a black ball in the box each time we vote on
Hendricks. If it is one member, | wish he would tellwingy he continues to black ball him. 1

know Joe, and he is worthy of any fraternity on this campus. And you can bet that one of them

Ad 3J2Ay3 (2 LI SRIS KAY 0SF2NB f2y3ao 1S A& o068
enthusiastic about him at firsgince he is rather quiet, | have grown to like him very much.
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be a credit to the fraternity. FromhisablS NI G A2y a4 { YAUK aF AR KS RAF

the part of a fraternity brother.
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In general, Smith added, he fails to meet the standards of this fraterautgt | want every
member of this chapter to reflect credit upon it.

Stanley told Smith that from the description he had just given of me, he wondered if he (Smith)
NEBlIffte 1ySse YSo G¢KS RSAONALIIAZ2Y aixiwa e R2Sa
OrasS 2F YAadlr 1Sy ARSydGAle o¢

He asked the members if they would approve of him bringing me to the next meeting so
everyone would know me. There was no objection. When Smith met me that night, he readily
admitted to Stanley that he was wrong anddshe had been thinking of some other fellow. A
vote was taken thereafter, and | was approved unanimously.

The next day | happened to meet one of my Montverde school mates and he noticed my pledge
pin. He asked me why | had accepted their pin, wheffratsrnity was considering me. | told
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The fraternity came through by giving me a boost toward ératip, just as | thought it would.

It was through Pi Kap that | organized a political party (Democratic, of course) on the campus

and became its leader. One time at Stetson, | held two major offices simultaneously, the first
time anyone remembered thisaving been accomplished.

In spite of my success, there was always the problem of finances. | cleaned up the fraternity
house for my dues. At the same time, | swept floors in the university for my tuition, cleaned an
apartment house and fired its furnador a place to live, and worked in the cafeteria for my
meals. | was later promoted from floor sweeper in the university buildings to the position of
publicity director. | receive d no pay, only my tuition in the new position as | knew nothing
about publicity.

There was nothing too menial for me to do, if it would further my education and fulfill my
ambitions. When it became evident that | had pollical ability and leadership qualities, | began
to think of something more than just an education. Myeirst in politics and the desire to

move forward improved me in many ways while at Stetson. | began practicing psychology, both
on an individual and group basis, within the limited range of the student body. There is a good
deal to be learned about psyeology and politics from a group of 500 men and women. Being a
student, | had the opportunity to study and practice psychology with my fellow students and

the faculty.

| always believed it was good to have an association with the head authority plaoe; At

Stetson, it was the college president. President Hulley and | had one thing in common which
only one out of ten persons could recognize unless they studied psychology. Each of us was
timid! | noticed the trait in Dr. Hulley and made everyoetfto converse with him. My efforts
succeeded later on when he began to take notice of me while | was engaged in political
campaigns on the campus. He often talked with me about politics. | made it a point to go to his
office for advice on various matts. As a result, we developed a close friendship. On more

than one occasion, | used this friendship to accomplish something | could not have done
otherwise.

As an example, my brother, Dennis Carroll, entered the university. To encourage him, |

promisel to help him. It turned out that | had to pay his tuition with money | was planning on

using to pay my tuition. | asked the bursar, Mr. Rosa, if | could sign a note for my tuition. The
FyasgSNI gl & Iy SYLKIFGAO db2HE¢ esitlatiosts fimd. Hé ®ld 5 NI |
me to go back and tell Mr. Rosa it would be all right for me to sign the note.
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It was about time fomy first class during that semester to start, and | did not want to miss it or
0S tl1iSo L RA Rgalying, and INdisetl RINBlullef that itflagpeaied R Robad
did not care whether | made it or not. On telling him what Mr. Roshdad, Dr. Hulley turned

red with anger. With a few choice words to Mr. Rosa, Dr. Hulley got my tuition handled with
dispatch.

On another occasion, | had a friend who played the organ in the largest theater in the world,

G¢KS aAftAAPe BRE O NBIE YEX (Kdzy GAy3G2yz 2Sad +ANH,.
campus. | asked him if he would play the chapel organ for me, and he consented. But when we
approached the organist, Mrs. Welch, with my request for the keys, she refused.

We immediately leftK S OKIF LISt | yR ¢Syid (G2 5NY | dzZ t SeQa 2°
organ music and that Mrs. Welch turned down my request. Advising us that he, too, liked

organ music, Dr. Hulley wrote a note and told me to give it to Mrs. Welch. On reading the not

she promptly opened her purse and gave us the organ key. My friend played for me about an

hour.
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during the summer again. | enjoyed the work and it helpadfimancial situation.

My popularity at Stetson began to climb during my junior year when a group of girls asked me if

| would accept the class presidency. They told me they were dissatisfied with a fellow who was

the front runner for the position. Thsame fellow had been president of both the freshman

and sophomore classes during the past two years. The girls noted the junior class would be
NBaLR2yaArofS FT2N LdzoftAaKAy3d GKS O2f€tS3S &SIN o6
this fellow woud devote the proper time to it. |told them | would accept and was elected. |
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for mockingbird. On becoming the business manager, the ediechief, Miss Virginia Cheney

and | discussed the matter of changing the name since it was so hard to pronounce and spell.

Also, she noted no one knew the meaning of it. In one respect, Miss Chenayclirzsd to let
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I NBFaz2ylrofS ydzyoSNI 2F LIS2LX S (y26 ¢KIFG AdGQa

In our discussion, | pointed out that JohnSetson was a hat manufacturer and that it might
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determined as | was. This dission was held in front of the year book staff and she did not
relent.
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This is one of the few times | ever made a subtle threat. | thought it best to settle the matter
here and then get the approval of the class in a called meeting. | was not sl gn if it
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was brought to a vote of the class, since she could line up all the girls on her side. But at the
moment, | had the majority of the staff on my side.

| finally said that Miss Cheney is the editor and she seems dissatisfied with the plopose
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am sureg as difficult as it would be to find a capable replacemente could find someone
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suddenly faced with the possibility of being repldcehich apparently she had not given any

thought previously.
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dead now but whom | admired very much, critized me for the change, saying he thought the

former name was best. He bet me that it would be changed batket@ld name within two
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| achieved much at Stetson during the four years | studied there for an AB degree. | gained my
knowledge of psychology and learndeetpractical use of politics. | had many fine associations
with countless young men and women and the faculty. | developed a close friendship with Dr.
Hulley and enjoyed a pleasant experience with my fraternity, the Pi Kapp Phis. | developed a
broader aitlook on life and realized my main desire was to enter the political arena. | thought
when | received my AB degree, | had achieved my formal education. But a year later, | had
returned to Stetson, studying and working just as hard as before, for adgved.

Politics is more likely to show a man off better than almost any other profession. | had relatives
who were politicians, so | assume it was in my blood. All | had to do was realize it was there
and realize it | did! Politics is a science, netdiy understood by many. Therefore, politicians

are likely to be criticized by some people unjustly. My judgement in politics at Stetson might be
guestioned, but not my methods or motives.
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degree. There was one of Dr. Robert Sahilor Holmes, to whom the book was dedicated; Dr.
Lincoln Hulley, the president of Stetson; and Joseph E. Hendricks student body president.
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Raiford, Florida

Candidate for A.B. Degree
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